SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

FORM 10-K

Annual report pursuant to section 13 and 15(d)

Filing Date: **1999-03-26** | Period of Report: **1998-12-31** SEC Accession No. 0000899243-99-000541

(HTML Version on secdatabase.com)

FILER

DA CONSULTING GROUP INC

CIK:1051209| IRS No.: 760418488 | State of Incorp.:TX | Fiscal Year End: 1231 Type: 10-K | Act: 34 | File No.: 333-43989 | Film No.: 99573549 SIC: 7389 Business services, nec Mailing Address 5847 SAN FELIPE RD STE 3700 HOUSTON TX 77057

Business Address 5847 SAN FELIPE RD STE 3700 HOUSTON TX 77057 7133613000

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

Form 10-K

[X]Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 1998

[_]Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the Transition Period from to

Commission File No. 00-24055

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC. (Exact name of registrant as specified in charter)

TEXAS (State or other jurisdiction of or organization) 76-0418488 (IRS employer incorporation identification No.)

(Zip Code)

77057

5847 San Felipe Road, Suite 3700, Houston, Texas (Address of principal executive office)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (713) 361-3000

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: NONE

Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Title of Class: COMMON SHARES, PAR VALUE \$.01 PER SHARE

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes [X] No [_]

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will be contained, to the best of Registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K. []

As of March 24, 1999, the aggregate market value of the voting stock held by nonaffiliates was approximately \$27,420,000.

As of March 24, 1999, 6,550,074 shares of common stock were outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Specified portions of the definitive Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders of DA Consulting Group, Inc. to be held on May 3, 1999 are incorporated by reference in Part III.

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

FORM 10-K

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART I

<table></table>	
<\$>	<c></c>
Item 1.Business	3
Item 2.Properties	14
Item 3.Legal Proceedings	15
Item 4.Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders	15
PART II	
Item 5.Market for the Company's Common Equity and Related Stockholder	
Matters	15
Item 6.Selected Consolidated Financial Data	16
Item 7.Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition And	
Results of Operations	18
Item 7A.Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	26
Item 8.Financial Statements	26
Item 9.Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and	

PART III

Item 10.Directors and Executive Officers of DA Consulting Group, Inc	26
Item 11.Executive Compensation	26
Item 12.Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management	26
Item 13.Certain Relationships and Related Transactions	26
PART IV	

Item	14.Exhibits,	Financial	Statement	Schedules,	and Reports	on	Form	8-K	27
SIGNA <td>ATURES</td> <td>•••••</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>•••</td> <td>••••</td> <td></td> <td>29</td>	ATURES	•••••				•••	••••		29

2

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

DA Consulting Group, Inc. (the "Company" or "DACG"(TM)) is a leading international provider of employee education and support solutions to companies investing in business information technology. Through its 863 employees in 17 offices worldwide, the Company provides employee support solutions to clients through customized change communications, education, and performance support services. Since 1988, the Company has provided services to over 350 clients, including more than 70 of the Fortune Global 500. The number of clients served by the Company has increased from 52 in 1994 to 216 in 1998. Clients added in 1998 included Nabisco, Eastman Kodak, Corning Consumer Products, Scott Paper Limited, Browning-Ferris Services, Inc., Great Spring Water of America (Perrier) and McKesson Corporation. The Company's client base is diversified, with its largest client representing less than 6% of the Company's revenue in 1998. Recognizing the global nature of the information technology market and the importance of being able to serve multi-national clients, the Company has built a substantial international presence. In addition to its six offices in the U.S., the Company has 11 offices in Canada, Mexico, the United Kingdom, France, South Africa, Australia, Singapore, and Venezuela.

The Company was founded in 1984 in Houston, Texas as an employee support company providing documentation services to the oil and gas industry. In 1988, the Company expanded its employee support services to include training by providing a support solution in connection with one of the first major English language installations of SAP AG software in the world. Because of the substantial market opportunity represented by enterprise resource planning (ERP) software, by 1990, the Company had made ERP end-user support its primary focus. In 1998, revenue from clients implementing SAP(TM) software represented 88% of the Company's billed consulting revenue. By focusing on end-user support, the Company has been successful in institutionalizing its knowledge base, and has developed content and reference materials, the DA Foundation (TM), that are applied in developing customized solutions for each client. The Company has also developed DA Cornerstone(TM), the Company's methodology for delivering consistently high quality service to its clients. More recently, the Company has broadened its complement of end-user support services by also providing change communications consulting and on-line help tools with CBT Systems and Centra Software strategic partnerships and by expanding its ERP capabilities to include applications such as J.D. Edwards, Baan, Oracle and PeopleSoft.

Market

The global market for end-user performance support services for business information technology is large and highly fragmented. Providers include large international systems integrators which are focused on systems integration and implementation, but also provide end-user support as a secondary service. In addition, there are a large number of small organizations that specialize in employee support services, generally serving a limited geographic area and having a smaller base of technical and managerial resources. Companies implementing business information technology recognize the importance of enduser performance support services to the success of their technology implementations. Service providers having the dedicated resources and specialized skills to deliver these services effectively and consistently across a broad geographic area have gained a large share of this market.

Many large and mid-sized businesses face a rapidly changing business environment, intense global competition, and accelerating technological change. To remain competitive, such businesses continually seek to improve the quality of products and services, lower costs, enhance employee efficiency, and increase value to customers. Businesses are implementing and utilizing advanced information technology solutions that enable them to redesign their business processes in such areas as product development, service delivery, manufacturing, human resources, and accounting. A central element of this redesigning process for many companies is the replacement of legacy systems with ERP software applications which offer the increased functionality and flexibility which is critical to the competitive needs of businesses. As a result of these factors, the market for business information technology is experiencing rapid growth.

3

Industry sources estimate that the worldwide market for information technology training will be \$21 billion in 1999 and is expected to grow at a compound annual rate of 12% through 2002 to \$28 billion. The ERP related portion of the training market is 7%. The ERP software market leader is SAP, a German company with a 1998 market share estimated to have been approximately 34%. The next largest ERP software providers are Oracle with 14%, PeopleSoft, Inc. with 9%, J.D. Edwards with 7% and Baan with 5%.

Because of the substantial effect technology changes have on workers' job functions, companies are increasingly recognizing the importance of providing

their end-users, which include personnel and management across all business functions, with the training and tools necessary to utilize these newly implemented systems effectively. While it is a relatively small cost component of the overall information technology implementation, such training and tools are critical factors in companies achieving the expected returns on these substantial investments. Industry researchers are recommending that 15% of the expenses budgeted by companies for systems integration and implementation services be dedicated to training and tools. The Company believes that the percentage of expenditures is moving closer over time to this level as clients recognize the value of employee education.

Business Strategy

The Company's goal is to be the worldwide leader in business information technology support solutions by providing services to clients in all major countries and languages. The Company's business strategy to achieve this goal includes the following key components:

Expand and Diversify Beyond ERP into Support of Other Information Technologies. Since 1988, the Company has provided end-user support services in connection with ERP software implementations in more than 30 countries. The Company plans to extend its range and scope of service beyond ERP. In 1999, the Company will target new areas, specifically supply chain management and customer relationship management systems. Currently the Company is having discussions with potential partners in these front office systems areas. The Company believes that employee performance is the single most important factor enabling a business to realize the benefits of the considerable investments made in such business information technology. The Company believes that its substantial expertise, experience, and exclusive focus on providing employee support services enhance its competitive position and will allow it to continue to benefit from the rapid growth in the market for its services.

Expand Extensive International Presence. Since 1994, when the Company had two offices in the United States and one office in the United Kingdom, the Company has expanded its presence to 17 offices located in ten countries across North America, South America, Australia, Asia, Europe, and Africa. The Company initially enters a new geographic market using its mobile consulting staff to serve the specific needs of a current client. When justified by ongoing market demand, the Company will establish a new office that it builds predominantly with DACG-trained local professionals after initially using senior Company consultants. The Company believes that its ability to provide consistently high-quality support services internationally is an important factor in attracting multinational clients with requirements for the Company's services across diverse geographic locations. The Company intends to continue to open new offices in strategically important locations with particular nearterm focus on expanding its presence in the United States, Latin America, and Asia. See "Company Organization and Project Management and Methodology" and "Properties." See also "Geographic Financial Data" in Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for information regarding foreign and domestic operations and export sales.

Maintain and Expand Strong Relationships with ERP Software Vendors and Existing Clients. Since 1988, the Company has provided support solutions to clients installing SAP, while expanding its range of services to support implementations of all other leading ERP applications developers, including J.D. Edwards (1996), Oracle (1996), Baan (1997) and PeopleSoft, Inc. (1998). Because the quality of end-user performance support can substantially impact the success of an ERP installation, SAP has developed its own list of a limited number of preferred or qualified service providers. DACG is recognized by SAP as a Global Consulting Partner. The

4

Company believes that this status is important in enabling it to receive referrals from SAP for new business opportunities. In December, the Company was named a Global Education Services Alliance Partner with PeopleSoft, Inc. The Company is the only global education specialist to have achieved this status with PeopleSoft and SAP. See "Sales and Marketing." In 1999, the Company intends to refocus key sales people to concentrate on account management at large multi-national accounts and within specific industry verticals. This approach means the Company will grow its business by delivering expanded services and obtaining repeat business with its clients.

Leverage Large, Diversified, Blue-Chip Client Base. Since 1988, the Company has provided services to over 70 of the Fortune Global 500 companies (including three of the top ten) as well as many other large companies worldwide. This blue-chip client base provides the Company with substantial credibility when soliciting business from potential new customers and has proven to be an important source of referrals. In addition, these customers often have geographically dispersed organizations with large numbers of employees requiring performance support services and staged multi-year ERP information technology implementation cycles, thereby providing the Company with a source of follow-on revenue opportunities. The Company's client base is diversified in that the ten largest clients, in the aggregate, accounted for approximately 31% of the Company's revenue in 1998. The Company's largest client accounted for less than 6% of the Company's revenue in 1998. See "Clients."

Expand the Organization. The Company's professional staff has grown from 181 as of December 31, 1994 to 863 as of December 31, 1998 and its full-time sales staff has grown from five as of December 31, 1994 to 27 as of December 31, 1998. The Company intends to continue to expand and refine its recruiting process to attract the best available consulting and sales staff. When opening new offices, the Company uses core groups of existing senior Company consultants in order to transfer its strong corporate culture and its commitment to high quality service to new personnel in geographically and culturally disparate locations. In addition, DACG has developed a comprehensive series of training programs covering technical skills, project methodologies, and management and sales techniques to accelerate the development of its professional staff, expand their skills, and permit them to attain increasing levels of responsibility within the organization. The Company believes that its success in providing its employees with a challenging and fulfilling work environment, a competitive compensation structure, and broad-based equity ownership will help it achieve this expansion. See "Recruiting and Professional Development."

Extend Service Offerings. The Company has a significant commitment to continual expansion of its service offerings. Research and development are focused on three main areas: (1) the development of technology-based solutions that allow the Company's consultants to generate improved efficiencies as they develop employee support solutions for clients; (2) the development of tools and content specific to the ERP applications produced by all of the major ERP vendors; and (3) the development of service solutions for areas complementary to existing businesses such as the development of intranet-based solutions for the delivery of end-user support services that support the Company's clients' needs for education and performance support beyond their ERP systems. The Company considers that its proprietary toolset, its relationship with CBT Systems to develop computer-based training titles, and its relationship with Centra Software to develop and market interactive web-based distance learning are important means of gaining market share in the growing market for complex business software. The Company is expanding service lines in the areas of change and knowledge management, customer relationship management, and supplychain management.

Services

The Company delivers employee support solutions designed to maximize the return on clients' business information technology investments while taking into account each client's individual needs, resources, and requirements. New business software has a significant direct impact on the working patterns of a corporation which must be managed in relation to both implementation of the software and support of that software over time. The Company performs a thorough review of the procedures and jobs that employees will need to perform and uses this information to develop the requisite end-user support solution for the client. Such solutions utilize the Company's proprietary methodology, DA Cornerstone, in the delivery of services consisting of change communications, education, and performance support programs developed by the Company.

In response to the strong demand for SAP $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}\xspace/3$ implementation using that

vendor's AcceleratedSAP Roadmap(TM) Methodology, DACG introduced DA FIT/Fast Implementation Toolkit(TM) in 1998. DA FIT enables consultants to extract key information from AcceleratedSAP tools and processes and integrate it with DACG content and tools to quickly produce customized, effective end-user support solutions.

Change Communications

Clients introducing complex business software systems commit themselves to long-term change. Clients' employees are affected by this change, seeing it on the desktop in the form of new software functionality and in day-to-day business activities in the form of new procedures and policies. Typical approaches to managing this change focus on establishing executive management support. However, the key to successful business systems implementations is ensuring the support of end-users. Effective utilization of technology is critical to the success of business software investments. Accordingly, the Company's change communications programs are primarily focused on the enduser. Common change communications deliverables provided by the Company to its clients include kick-off meetings and speeches, facilitated collaborative work groups, multimedia presentations, video presentations, and newsletters. These deliverables, in addition to providing critical information, also serve to minimize a client's business disruption by preparing the employee for the impact of complex business software related changes.

The business goals that drive the implementation of business software as identified by client executive management are used as the starting point for the development of change communications programs. An analysis is conducted that determines how the enterprise-wide issues presented by client management will impact each end-user's daily work routine. These issues are identified through the Company's use of facilitated collaborative workshops where the Company's staff work with client employees to identify areas of greatest concern. Based on this review, a specific change communications program is developed for each segment of the audience. This program ensures the progressive delivery of messages that start with the basic corporate message and then address issues that are specific to segments (such as the accounts receivable department) of the client's organization.

Education

The Company develops educational programs specific to each client's needs, taking into account the client's infrastructure and resources, the scope of the client's information technology system, and the client's language and culture. In order to influence the way an employee works and optimizes his or her utilization of a new system, educational programs are developed that focus on specific end-user job responsibilities, as well as on the overall business processes that impact the end-user. In developing educational content for a client, the Company utilizes its DA Foundation library which contains training content that addresses job roles and processes common to complex business software.

The Company consults with the client to determine the appropriate media to use for delivering the educational content: instructor-led training; computerbased training; and/or distance learning. Virtually all the Company's clients utilize instructor-led training courses, which the Company customizes to meet the particular client's specifications and needs.

Many companies, particularly those with large and geographically dispersed operations, find computer-based training to be an effective education delivery method from the standpoint of both cost and time. The Company believes that an integrated curriculum of instructor-led and computer-based training courses represents the optimal end-user education solution. The Company offers both custom and standardized computer-based training modules, utilizing the resources of the DA Foundation library. The Company has developed the standardized courseware under a co-development agreement with CBT Systems, one of the largest companies specializing in computer-based training development and distribution worldwide. Under the agreement, the Company and CBT Systems have jointly developed, in conjunction with SAP, a series of 20 computer-based

training courses. The Company considers the development of computer-based

training titles to be an important means of gaining market share in the growing ERP middle market as standardized computer-based courses represent a less expensive means of training for clients that do not require a customized solution.

Through a collaboration with Centra Software Inc. utilizing its Symposium software, the Company also uses distance learning as a method to distribute educational content within client organizations. Distance learning solutions are most often utilized by companies with remote user audiences and require only basic information technology infrastructures because they involve distributing content by using wide area networks, corporate intranets, and audio conferencing technology. Typically a client implementing an ERP system or another new business technology will have the required infrastructure. Distance learning or "e-learning" is effective in situations where travel, time away and cost are important.

Performance Support

A critical component of the Company's end-user support solution is the documentation of business processes that affect end-users. This documentation is designed to assist workers in performing their jobs following training. In utilizing a new system, end-users of technology frequently encounter situations in which they require assistance. In order to limit workers' downtime and provide workers with easy access to assistance, paper-based and on-line references containing relevant policies, processes, and procedures are often the most effective aids. In coordination with the design of educational programs, the Company works with each client to assess the ongoing documentation and performance support needs of the particular audience of endusers. Utilizing the DA Foundation, the Company then develops support content for the client, creating a clearly defined set of policies, processes, and procedures relating the particular business software application.

Based upon the client's information technology infrastructure, budget, and timing needs, the appropriate media for performance support is determined. Quick reference guides and printed documentation can deliver hard copy performance support. This type of performance support solution is most often used by those clients who have limited time frames in which to develop an enduser support solution. These clients can migrate to a more technologically advanced solution at a later date. More sophisticated performance support solutions can be delivered through the client's corporate intranet, where DACG will design and maintain a repository of the end-user support deliverables.

DACG's most sophisticated performance support solution is an electronic performance support system ("EPSS") which provides comprehensive end-user support on demand at the desktop so that end-users can minimize interruptions in seeking help or information relating to a job task. End-users can access the EPSS from their own desktop and find the answers to the questions they have about a particular task. Building a comprehensive EPSS solution can be challenging and costly. To simplify its development, the Company has created a proprietary software technology, DA Passport (TM). DA Passport is context sensitive, which means it can track the location of the client end-users in the client's ERP system, in order to provide support based on the particular application being run, thereby allowing the Company to create customized ERP end-user support accessible at a transactional or task level. The Company can link system task, business procedure, training, and computer-based training files to ERP transactions using the DA Passport technology. A DA Passport solution is typically recommended to those clients that already have existing corporate intranets, although the Company can consult with a client to construct a corporate intranet site if required.

The support content ultimately developed for each of the Company's clients is used to regularly update and expand the DA Foundation library. For example, although the Company currently utilizes DA Passport on SAP applications only, as it expands its service offerings to include support for other vendors' software, it will be able to utilize the DA Foundation library as the basis for expanding DA Passport to provide performance support content for other such software applications. While each client project is different, the following case studies illustrate the range of support solution services the Company has provided to its clients.

Cadbury-Schweppes PLC ("Cadbury"). United Kingdom-based Cadbury, the third largest soft drink vendor in the world, decided to replace its legacy computer systems with "Year 2000" compliant SAP ERP software. Starting with an initial engagement with Cadbury's subsidiary, Mott's Inc., the Company utilized 10 consultants over the course of eight months to develop a full suite of change communication, education, and performance support deliverables for Mott's Canadian SAP roll-out. Following successful delivery of this solution, the Company was retained by Mott's to deliver end-user support services for Mott's United States SAP rollout. The Company's North America Mobile Group supported these engagements. During this period, Cadbury acquired Dr. Pepper/Seven Up, Inc. and began to implement SAP within this organization from Dr. Pepper's base in Dallas. DACG was again retained to deliver end-user support services for this SAP installation. Working within an aggressive time schedule, DACG produced all training materials on time. Materials included instructor guides, participant handouts, training exercises, quick reference cards, the training system and on-line help. The Company's Dallas branch and its North America Mobile Group supported this engagement.

Pfizer Canada, Inc. ("Pfizer"). During the 1990's, New York-based Pfizer Inc. has risen from No. 13 to No. 4 in worldwide prescription drug sales. To maintain its momentum and to prepare for aggressive growth, Pfizer recognized a need to fully integrate its financial, manufacturing and purchasing infrastructure. The ultimate goal is to be fully prepared for electronic commerce with a focus on customer service and to be fully compliant with all international pharmaceutical regulations. Pfizer's moved to the AS/400 platform from mainframe and standardized operations with ERP software from J.D. Edwards. As part of that process, Pfizer began a yearlong implementation of JDE Sales Order Processing, Accounts Receivable, Purchasing and Inventory Management modules for its Pharmaceutical and Consumer Health Care businesses. Initially, Pfizer planned to use internal resources for end-user education and performance support, but soon recognized the need for expert help. After a thorough evaluation of available resources, Pfizer chose DA Consulting Group Canada, Inc. DACG Canada helped Pfizer document and validate processes in accordance the U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA) and Canadian Ministry of Health regulations. DACG developed on-line performance support, produced training materials, developed classes and delivered instruction to over 50 end-users.

Browning-Ferris Industries, Inc. ("BFI"). BFI is a leading North American waste services company, with annual revenues of \$4.3 billion. During its thirty-year history, BFI has grown from a single truck residential waste collection firm to a global leader in collection, recycling and disposal of residential, commercial, industrial and medical waste. During much of its corporate history, BFI operated with a decentralized management philosophy. A heightened focus on customer service led to a re-engineering of BFI's business practices. Among its re-engineering efforts, BFI implemented SAP to help provide an integrated, centralized approach to information systems management. The integration involved 8 of SAP's business modules. BFI has completed its initial SAP integration and has begun a phased rollout, which will involve 400 locations and 3,000 to 5,000 end-users. Working with DACG, BFI has performed a thorough analysis of its training needs, developed documentation for SAP system tasks and BFI business procedures, and developed an on-line help system (DA Passport). DACG helped BFI trainers develop appropriate coursed and training exercises. End-user support programs have been delivered on time and within budget. BFI's re-engineering efforts are helping them enhance customer service, provide consistency of service delivery throughout its operation areas, and leverage the company's size to lower operating costs.

Sterling Diagnostic Imaging, Inc. ("Sterling"). Sterling was created in 1996 from a spin off of the diagnostic imaging business of DuPont Medical Products. Today, Sterling employs over 2,100 people worldwide and is a leading global provider of health care delivery systems with products and services for conventional imaging, mammography, video and laser imaging and other specialty applications. DuPont continued providing certain business functions for Sterling, with the understanding the new company would have its own

infrastructure within two years. Sterling selected SAP R/3 and began a global implementation of all SAP functionalities except HR. Because of the massive workload and critical time constraints, Sterling became one of the first worldwide AcceleratedSAP implementation sites. Sterling selected DA Consulting Group, Inc., to document Business Process Procedures (BPP), develop a performance support system, produce training materials and transfer knowledge from DACG consultants to the Sterling personnel who conducted classes. Sterling and DACG identified 250 BPP's and developed end-user education for each. Utilizing DACG methodology, the education component was compressed into extremely tight time schedules, ranging from two weeks to six weeks per class for course development through he completion of participant involvement. At the go-live date, 750 end-users were successfully prepared for the SAP cutover. SAP America, Inc. nominated Sterling for consideration in the Smithsonian Institute's Computerworld Smithsonian Awards Competition, in recognition of Sterling's accomplishments utilizing the AcceleratedSAP methodology. Sterling was honored as a member of the 1998 innovation collection, which will be archived in the Smithsonian Permanent Research Collection in the National Museum of American History.

Empresas Polar. Empresas Polar is the leading industrial conglomerate in Venezuela, with 40 companies involved in beverages, food products and related economic activities. Empresas Polar operates 25 plants, employs more than 18,000 people and produces four percent of Venezuela's gross domestic product (GDP). The company has invested heavily in a high-tech production, marketing and service infrastructure and is continually seeking ways to maximize its return on investment. Additionally, Empresas Polar needed to make its computer systems Year 2000 compliant. Empresas Polar purchased SAP R/3 and began implementing the Materials Management, Financial Accounting, Controlling, Assets Management and Plant Maintenance modules as a pilot project in its beverage division. The pilot implementation project in the beverage division demonstrated the need for better employee education and support. Empresas Polar contracted DACG to provide change communication (including meeting facilitation and process discovery), end-user education and performance support services. Working with DACG, the company has now developed "points and issues" to be addressed with end-user education, Train-the-Trainer sessions and an interactive, on-line help system. All materials and performance support tools are being delivered in Spanish.

Clients

<TABLE>

The Company provides its support solution services around the world to large and mid-sized companies, many of which have information intensive, multinational operations. The Company has provided services to more than 350 clients, including many of the world's leading corporations, in a broad range of industries such as oil and gas, technology, pharmaceutical and chemicals, utilities, telecommunications, consumer products and manufacturing. The following is a representative list of the Company's clients served during 1998.

<C> <S> $\langle C \rangle$ AlliedSignal Inc. Cabletron Systems, Inc. Lockheed Martin Cadbury-Schweppes PLC BASF McKesson Corporation Baylor College of Compaq Computer Corporation Montell Polyolefins Company Medicine Hercules, Inc. PetroFina SA Berlex Laboratories Hewlett-Packard Company Volkswagen Bruxelles SA Bristol-Myers Squibb Kimball International Company Browning-Ferris Industries </TABLE>

The Company's ten largest clients, in the aggregate, accounted for approximately 53%, 34% and 31% of its revenue in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. No single client of the Company accounted for more than 6% of the Company's revenue in 1998.

Company Organization and Project Management and Methodology

Organization

The Company divides its organization into three operating divisions: the Americas Division, which includes its North, South and Central America operations (comprised of nine offices); the EMEA Division, which includes its Europe, Middle East and Africa operations (comprised of five offices); and the Asia Pacific Division,

9

which includes its Australia, New Zealand and Asia operations (comprised of three offices). Each division is headed by a member of the Company's management and is further divided into regions that are generally headed by a Company vice president. Regions are divided into branches, with each branch generally organized into five tiers: consultants, project leaders, project managers, operations managers and branch managers.

Specifically defined responsibilities, communicated through formal training programs and review processes, exist at each level, providing the Company's employees with clearly defined roles and accountability for implementing and effectuating end-user support solutions world-wide. The operations manager, a designated senior individual with extensive project management experience, has primary responsibility for defining the scope of the engagement and satisfying client expectations regarding this scope. The operations manager also has responsibility for managing resource availability of staff from within the Company's organization and for managing project costs. The project manager has responsibility for the execution of the planned project and the production of all deliverables within budget and on-time. The project manager oversees project staffing and works with the operations manager to locate additional Company resources if required. Company wide executive management, strategic planning and financial administration are conducted from the Company's corporate headquarters in Houston, Texas.

Project Methodology and Management

The Company's DA Cornerstone project management methodology is a key component in its delivery of quality end-user support solutions to its clients. DA Cornerstone is DACG's comprehensive six phase, end-user support methodology that addresses key end-user support program deliverables, activities and milestones throughout the life cycle of a business information technology implementation. Each phase has associated tools that facilitate the completion of that phase's activities and deliverables.

DA Cornerstone phases include:

Analyze:	The operations manager, together with the project manager or leader, analyzes the client needs, resources and requirements. Once this process is complete, the Company submits to the client an end-user support strategy document comprised of change communication, education and performance support strategies and deliverables for its approval.
Prototype and Design:	Once the change communication, education and performance support strategies are approved, the project manager or leader, with the support of the operations manager, designs deliverables and sets up appropriate development strategies for the support solution. The client must approve the end-user support program design.
Develop:	The entire project team executes the change communications, education and performance support development strategies and submits all deliverables for frequent internal and client review.
Implement:	The entire project team delivers the change communication, education program and performance support to the end-users.
Evaluate:	The operations manager and the project manager evaluate the effectiveness of the end-user support program using appropriate tools.

Support:

The operations manager and the project manager set up the post implementation, long-term maintenance strategy for the end-user support program.

The Company's project staff develops each end-user support component through an iterative draft and review process that directly involves client end-users in the development of content specific to their needs. This review process typically consists of three stages and has quality control steps embedded in each stage as formal

10

checkpoints. These checkpoints are intended to ensure that the client is satisfied with the deliverables, that the content is accurate and adheres to the Company's own standards, and that the project is delivered in a costeffective and timely manner. The success of a given project engagement from a cost, time and client satisfaction perspective is the responsibility of the assigned operations and project managers.

Sales and Marketing

The Company generates business through a field sales force which sells directly, pursues client and vendor referrals and trade show leads. In addition, the Company co-markets, in the form of joint sales calls and marketing materials, with ERP vendors, CBT Systems and Centra Software.

The Company's direct sales efforts are performed worldwide by its 27 fulltime sales personnel, each of whom has either a branch territory or regional focus. The sales personnel generate leads from several sources, including referrals from the Company's existing clients and from attendance at industry trade shows. Among its sales and marketing efforts, the Company's sales force has presented the Company's expertise at SAPPHIRE, the annual SAP America conference for SAP service providers and end-users. The Company also participates and has an opportunity to demonstrate its expertise at conferences around the world with all leading ERP vendors. The Company also uses web-based marketing, direct mail, advertising in trade magazines, corporate presentations, joint marketing events and networking through regional business communities to generate potential sources for new business.

The Company's strategic business alliances, including those which the Company maintains with SAP, PeopleSoft, J.D. Edwards, CBT Systems and Centra Software, are a source of generating new business. DACG is recognized by SAP, PeopleSoft, Centra Software and J.D. Edwards as a preferred or qualified provider of end-user support services. DACG is recognized as a Global Consulting Partner by SAP and a Global Education Services Alliance Partner by PeopleSoft. In addition, the Company develops and delivers joint proposals with certain of these business alliance partners to potential clients. The proposals cover software applications, software implementation services and end-user support solutions. The Company has been successful in obtaining new business through these joint proposals.

The Company's services require a substantial financial commitment by clients. Once a lead is generated, the Company endeavors to quickly understand the potential client's business needs and objectives in order to develop the appropriate solution and bid accordingly. The Company's operations and project managers are involved throughout the sales cycle to ensure mutual understanding of client goals, including time to completion and technological requirements. Sales cycles for end-user support solution projects typically last one to six months from the time the Company initially meets with a prospective client until the client decides whether to authorize commencement of an engagement. The retention of the Company typically occurs at the beginning of the design/prototype stage of the software implementation.

Late in 1998, the Company began creating an account management sales structure, organized both by large, key international accounts and by vertical industries such as oil and gas, finance and public sector. The account management initiative involves transitioning selected sales people to account manager roles to generate repeat and maintenance engagements with both new and existing clients. This approach will leverage ongoing roll-outs of software within organizations and the maintenance needs in education for SAP, J.D. Edwards and PeopleSoft accounts.

Recruiting and Professional Development

As of December 31, 1998, DACG's personnel consisted of 863 employees, 677 of which were professional staff, 32 of which were sales and marketing staff, 48 of which were research and development staff, and 106 of which were administrative staff. The Company believes that its success depends in large part on its attracting, retaining and motivating talented, creative and professional employees at all levels. The Company seeks to hire personnel with prior consulting experience in end-user education programs, education professionals with a background in information technology and information technology professionals with education or

11

communication program experience. Strong project management, analytical and communications skills and meaningful international experience are also considered. Recruiting is coordinated globally through the Company's human resources department.

Training and mentoring are integral parts of the Company's staff development program. The Company's training programs ensure that its professional staff understand the impact of technology on people, are able to communicate effectively at all levels within a client organization and have the ability to communicate with its clients' technical, business and management staff to provide value-added content. Ongoing training consists of a blend of in-house and external training. In-house training includes basic training, more detailed software education, project management, consultancy skills and leadership training. The use of DA Foundation materials and the application of performance support technologies such as DA Passport are also covered. In addition, all consultants are required to attend a DA Cornerstone methodology training program, and to be approved for its use before being assigned to any consulting project. External training programs focus on project and time management skills.

The Company believes that its culture is central to its ability to attract and retain highly skilled and motivated professionals. Technical, management and sales training enable DACG professionals to expand their skills and attain increasing levels of responsibility within the organization. The technical career path provides opportunities for advancement outside the traditional management career ladder. The technical career path builds technical skills, provides compensation incentives and, at a macro level, supports the development of DACG's current and future core competencies. In 1998, the Company initiated a succession planning process which drives management and executive development. Through planned job assignment and rotations, special projects and structured development events, high potential management candidates are prepared to assume greater management roles. The Company attracts and motivates its professional and administrative staff by offering competitive packages of base and incentive compensation and benefits. All professional staff members are eligible for bonuses. The Company appreciates the importance of recognition and a promotion track for its administrative staff and fully integrates this staff into the conduct of its business. All of the Company's employees are eligible to receive stock options. As of December 31, 1998, employees, officers, directors and affiliates owned approximately 47% of the fully diluted equity of the Company.

Company Management

Executive Officers

Nicholas H. Marriner, 56, joined the Company in 1991 as its Financial Director and in 1993 became the Company's Chief Executive Officer. Until June 1996, Mr. Marriner was also a partner in Clark Whitehill Josolyne, an accounting firm which provides accounting services to the Company. See "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions." Mr. Marriner attended Leeds University and is a Fellow of the Institute for Chartered Accountants in the United Kingdom. Mr. Marriner is married to Ms. Pierpont.

Patrick J. Newton, 32, joined the Company in London in 1991 as a consultant. He was promoted to Branch Manager of the Mobile Group in July 1995, to Vice President of the Mobile Group in January 1996, to President of the Americas Division in July 1996, and to Chief Operating Officer in January 1997. As Chief Operating Officer, he is responsible for the worldwide operations of the Company. Mr. Newton received his B.A. from Oxford University.

Michael J. Mackey, 41, joined the Company in February 1997 as its Chief Financial Officer and is primarily responsible for the finance and administrative functions of the Company. Prior to joining the Company, from 1990 to 1996, Mr. Mackey was employed by Global Software, Inc., a technology company with consulting and products divisions, most recently as its Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Mackey received his B.S. from the University of Florida and his MBA from the University of Central Florida and is a Certified Public Accountant.

Lisa L. Costello, 29, joined the Company as a consultant in February 1993. She assumed the position of Operations Manager of the Americas Division Mobile Group in January 1996. In July 1996 she was promoted to

12

Director of Research and Development for the Company's Americas Division. In January 1997, she was promoted to Vice President and, in August 1997, to Executive Vice President, Research and Development, with responsibility for research and development globally. Prior to joining the Company, from June 1991 to January 1993, Ms. Costello was a technical writer for Software Interfaces, Inc. Ms. Costello received her B.A. from the University of St. Thomas in Houston.

Eric J. Fernette, 41, joined the Company as Executive Vice President, Human Resources in July 1997. Prior joining the Company, from 1987 to 1997, Mr. Fernette was employed by Compaq North America in various capacities, most recently as Director of Human Resources, North America Division. From 1979 to 1987, Mr. Fernette was a Human Resources Manager with ITT. Mr. Fernette received his B.S. from Arizona State University.

Key Employees

Thomas J. Brown, 50, joined the Company as consultant in October 1994. He occupied several positions in the Mobile Division and in 1997 was promoted to Vice President of the Southwest Region and later of the West Region, after a regional reorganization. In 1998, he was again promoted to his current position as President of the Americas Division. He received a B.A. from the University of Maryland, M.A. from Ball State University, and J.D. from Indiana University.

Dilip Keshu, 36, joined the Company in November 1998 as the President of the Asia Pacific Division. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Keshu was the Vice President and Managing of the ASEAN/South Asia Division of Baan Company. He also served on the Board of Directors of Baan Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., Baan Malaysia and Baan Infosystems. From 1993 to 1996, he was a Regional Managing Director of Cincon Systems. He received is B.E. at UVCE in Bangalore, India and his Masters of Technology at the Indian Institute of Technology in Madras, India.

Nim Sanghera, 33, joined the Company in January 1991 as a consultant in the London office. He was promoted to senior consultant and helped to set up the EC Mobile Branch, and then became its operations manager. After a stint as branch manager, he was promoted to associate vice president of Europe and most recently promoted to President of the Europe-Middle East-Africa (EMEA) Division. Prior to joining the Company he was working with Arthur Andersen as an Operations Accountant. He received his MA in Management at the University of Kent.

Research and Development

DACG established a research and development department in 1995 to support and maintain its end-user support content and consulting methodologies. This department, which consisted of 48 persons as of December 31, 1998, is responsible for developing and maintaining DA Passport, DA Foundation, and the Company's consulting methodologies, including the development of the Company's proprietary toolset used for the rapid deployment of end-user support solutions. The department is also responsible for developing computer-based training in cooperation with CBT Systems and Centra Software.

The Company's research and development department continually applies technology developments to the Company's content and tools. As technology has advanced, DACG has kept pace with this development, expanding its deliverables from traditional hard copy materials and instructor led training to include on-line documentation, multimedia training, EPSS, distance learning, web-based education and performance support solutions. During 1998, the Company developed FIT, distance learning products as well as continued work on systems with CBT and the Company's DA Passport product. The department also works directly with the Company's human resources department to ensure that the Company's consultants are trained to support each new release of the consulting methodologies. The Company considers research and development as a key to the expansion of its service offerings into change and knowledge management, supply-chain and customer relationship management. The Company plans to increase its expenditures in this area in 1999.

13

Competition

The global market for end-user performance support services for business information technology is large, highly fragmented and is subject to low barriers to entry and rapid change. Providers include large international systems integrators, such as the consulting practices of the large international accounting firms, which are focused on systems integration and implementation but also provide end-user support as a secondary service. In addition, the Company competes with the professional services groups of many large technology and management consulting companies and many small organizations that specialize in employee support services. Clients may also elect to use internal resources to satisfy their needs for the services the Company provides. The competition for client assignments also comes from a number of companies which have significantly greater financial, technical and marketing resources and greater name recognition than the Company. The Company believes that the key competitive factors forming the basis upon which these companies compete are experience, reputation, industry focus, international presence, service and technology offerings, and price relative to the value of the services provided. The Company believes that it competes effectively and will continue to compete effectively with respect to each of these factors both in the United States and internationally.

Intellectual Property and Other Property Rights

The Company relies on a combination of nondisclosure and other contractual arrangements and trade secret laws to protect its proprietary rights. The Company generally enters into confidentiality agreements with its key employees and clients, thereby seeking to limit distribution of proprietary information. There can be no assurance that the steps taken by the Company in this regard will be adequate to deter misappropriation of proprietary information or that the Company will be able to detect unauthorized use of and take appropriate steps to enforce its intellectual property rights. Software developed and other materials prepared by the Company in connection with client engagements are usually assigned to the Company's clients following the termination of the engagement. The Company retains the right to use the general know-how developed by the Company in the course of the engagement, and this accumulated knowledge is the basis for the DA Foundation. The Company also retains all rights to certain of its proprietary methodologies and software (such as DA Passport and computer-based training software), the benefit of which the Company provides to the client.

DA Foundation(R), DA Team Teach(R) and DA Consulting Group(R) are registered trademarks and/or service marks of the Company. The Company also claims common law trademark rights in DACG(TM), the DACG(TM) logo, DA FIT/Fast Implementation Toolkit(TM), DA ASK(TM), DA Cornerstone(TM), DA Passport(TM) and DA Quickweb(TM), for which the Company has filed applications for federal registration in the United States Patent and Trademark Office. Furthermore, the Company claims common law trademark rights in the slogan Solutions for People and Technology, but has not decided at present to file applications for trademark registration. The Company holds no patents. The Company has registered the copyright in the computer programs titled "DA Basic Skills

Training for SAP R/3" and "DA Basic Skills Training for SAP R/3 v2.0 US." The Company also claims the copyright in numerous other works and may elect to register such copyrights on a case-by-case basis.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Currently, the Company maintains 17 offices on six continents. The Company's headquarters is at 5847 San Felipe Road, Suite 3700, Houston, Texas, where it leases approximately 47,000 square feet of space. This lease expires in June 2004. The Company also maintains domestic offices in the metropolitan areas of Boston, Chicago, Dallas, Philadelphia and San Francisco, and foreign offices in Toronto, Mexico City, London, Paris, Melbourne, Sydney, Durban, Johannesburg, Cape Town, Singapore and Caracas. Each of these offices is located near one or more significant clients of the Company, and, except for Durban, have terms which will expire in between one and five years (exclusive of renewal options exercisable by the Company). The Company's strategy is to locate offices in areas where it has significant client work. All of the Company's offices are electronically linked together and have access to all of the Company's capabilities and core consulting tools. From time to time, the Company uses office space provided at client sites to facilitate performance of its services and maximize client contact. Where the Company operates in a country without an established office, operations are handled on a mobile basis with corporate support being delivered from one of its regional centers in Houston, London, Sydney or Johannesburg. The Company believes that its facilities are adequate for its current needs and that additional facilities can be leased to meet future needs.

14

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, the Company is a party to routine litigation in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not believe that such litigation will have a material effect on the financial statements.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter ended December 31, 1998.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE COMPANY'S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The Company's common stock has traded on the Nasdaq Stock Market since its initial public offering on April 24, 1998. Its trading symbol is DACG. The following table sets forth, for each quarterly period indicated, the high and low last sale price for the common stock as reported by the Nasdaq National Market.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	High	Low
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
1998		
2nd Quarter (beginning April 24)	. 18.50	13.00
3rd Quarter	. 18.00	12.50
4th Quarter	. 21.875	10.25
1999		
1st Quarter (through March 24)	. 21.00	7.625

 | |No dividends were declared on the Company's common stock during the year ended December 31, 1998, and the Company does not anticipate paying dividends in the foreseeable future.

The number of shareholders of record as of March 24, 1999, was approximately 1800.

The number of beneficial shareholders as of March 24, 1999, was

ITEM 6. SELECTED COMBINED AND CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial statement data as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 and the three year period ended December 31, 1998 is derived from the audited consolidated financial statements of DA Consulting Group, Inc, and its subsidiaries (the "Company") included elsewhere herein. This information should be read in conjunction with such Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes thereto. The selected financial information as of December 31, 1994, 1995 and 1996, and for each of the years in the two year period ended December 31, 1995 has been derived from audited financial statements of the Company that have been previously included in the Company's reports under The Securities Exchange Act of 1934, that are not included herein. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations."

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

			ths Ended	Years Ended December 31,			
	Year Ended December 31, 1994		December 31, 1995	1995	1996	1997	1998
(in thousands, except per share data) <s> Income Statement Data:</s>	Combined(1) <c></c>	Combined(1) <c></c>	Consolidated(1) <c></c>	Pro Forma(2) <c></c>	Con: <c></c>	solidated	(1) <c></c>
Revenue Cost of revenue	\$7,501 4,028	\$6,299 3,412	\$8,319 4,249	\$14,618 7,661	14,190	\$44,204 24,063	\$80,132 40,812
Gross profit Selling and marketing	3,473	2,887	4,070	6,957		20,141	39,320
expense Development expense General and administrative	450	407 296	665 411	1,072 707	1,953 1,250	3,726 1,223	5,184 3,091
expense Amortization	2,629	1,657	2,357	4,014	6 , 597	12,436	23,926
expense(3) Employee stock-related charge(4)			230	459	274 1,858	54 263	29
Operating Income Other (expense) income, net	394	 527 (23)	407	 705 (84)	80	2,439	7,090
net	(77)	(23)	(61)	(84)	95	(135)	
Income before taxes Provision for income	317	504	346	621	175	2,304	7,112
taxes	119	189	228	250	141	896	2,813
Net income	\$ 198 ======	\$ 315 ======	\$ 118 ======	\$ 371 ======		\$ 1,408	\$ 4,299 ======
Basic earnings per share(5) Weighted average shares	\$ 0.05	\$ 0.09	\$ 0.03	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.01	\$ 0.29	\$ 0.72
outstanding Diluted earnings per	3,623	3,623	3,623	3,623	4,217	4,808	5,976
share(5) Weighted average shares	\$ 0.05	\$ 0.08	\$ 0.03	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.01	\$ 0.28	\$ 0.69
outstanding Balance Sheet Data: Cash and cash	3,868	3,868	3,868	3,868	4,462	5,053	6,233
equivalents	\$ 104	\$ 585	\$ 592			\$ 3,664	\$ 9,971
Working capital Total assets	313 1,784	315 3,211	761 5,440		1,629 8 549	4,101 20,135	25,585 48,903
Total debt	205	445	562		731	3,970	40,903
Shareholders' equity	258	573	1,891		3,071	7,943	34,944

(1) Prior to July 1995, the Company's business was operated through four separate companies located in the United States (U.S.), the United Kingdom (U.K.), South Africa, and Australia (the "Predecessor Companies"). All of the Predecessor Companies were under common management. Prior to July 1995, three of the Predecessor Companies were controlled (based upon record ownership) by trusts, the sole beneficiaries of which were the controlling owners of the U.S. company and their children. As a result of a stock exchange transaction (the "Exchange Transaction") on July 1, 1995, the Predecessor Companies became wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. For accounting purposes, the acquisition of the U.S. company has been treated as a recapitalization of the U.S. company, and the U.S. company has been treated as the acquiror of the other three entities. As a result, the net assets of the U.S. company were carried forward at historical basis while the net assets of the acquired Predecessor Companies were recorded at fair market value using the purchase method of accounting. The financial data for the year ended December 31, 1994 and the six months ended June 30, 1995 represent the combined results of the Predecessor Companies prior to the Exchange Transaction; the financial data for the six months ended December 31, 1995 and the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 represent the consolidated results of the Company following the Exchange Transaction.

(2) The 1995 pro forma results of operations represent the combined results of the Predecessor Companies for the six months ended June 30, 1995 and the consolidated results of the Company for the six months ended December 31, 1995, which reflect the change in basis for the combined Predecessor Companies and amortization expense assuming the Exchange Transaction had occurred on January 1, 1995. The 1995 pro forma financial data have been presented since all of the entities were under common management and operated as one company for all of the years presented, and such data therefore represent a meaningful comparison with all of the years presented. As a result, the pro forma

16

1995 results include a full year of amortization expense in 1995 rather than the six months of amortization expense actually incurred by the Company in 1995.

- (3) In the Exchange Transaction, as described in note 1, the net assets of the three acquired Predecessor Companies were recorded at fair market value. As a result, the Company recorded \$485,000 of goodwill which will be amortized over 25 years beginning July 1, 1995 and \$510,000 of other intangible assets which were fully amortized between July 1, 1995 and June 30, 1997.
- (4) Represents charges for stock awarded to employees and payments in lieu thereof. See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations." No additional awards will be made by the Company pursuant to such arrangements, which have been terminated. Any future awards are intended to be made in the form of stock options with exercise prices at the fair market value of the underlying stock pursuant to the Company's 1997 Stock Option Plan and any amendments or successors thereto.
- (5) Basic and diluted earnings per share for 1997 on a pro forma basis would have been \$0.31 and \$0.29, respectively, to give effect to the sale of Common Stock (at an initial public offering price of \$14.50 per share, less underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated offering expenses) to repay indebtedness and the associated reduction in interest expense as if such repayment had occurred on January 1, 1997.

17

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements contained in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, and elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K, including statements regarding development of the Company's services, markets, and future demand for the Company's services and other statements regarding matters that are not historical facts, are forward looking statements (as defined in the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995). These forward-looking statements are subject to substantial risks and uncertainties that could cause the Company's actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. When used in this report, the words "anticipate", "believe", "confident", "estimate", "expect", "hypothetical", "intend", "may", "potential", and similar expressions as they relate to the Company or its management are intended to identify such forward-looking statements.

Actual future results and trends may differ materially from historical results as a result of certain factors, including but not limited to: dependence on SAP AG and the ERP software market, risks associated with management of a geographically-dispersed organization, fluctuating quarterly results, the need to attract and retain professional employees, substantial competition, uncertainties regarding the Company's ability to expand and diversify its business beyond ERP software, into support of other information technologies, dependence on key personnel, risks associated with management of growth factors, rapid technological change, limited protection of proprietary expertise, methodologies and software, as well as those set forth in Management's Discussion and Analysis section of this report and the Company's final prospectus dated April 24, 1998, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.

Business

The Company is a leading international provider of employee education and support solutions to companies investing in business information technology. Through its 863 employees in 17 offices worldwide, the Company provides employee support solutions through customized change communications, education, and performance support services to clients. Since 1988, the Company has provided services to over 350 clients, including more than 70 of the Fortune Global 500.

The Company's revenue has increased from \$7.5 million in 1994 to \$80.1 million in 1998, representing a compound annual growth rate of 80.8% for the period and a 81.3% increase in 1998 from the prior year. This growth is attributable to various factors, including expansion of the Company's international presence through new office openings, increases in the number of projects completed by the Company for existing and new clients, expansion of the array of end-user support services provided by the Company to its clients, and broadening of the number of ERP vendors whose software implementations can be serviced by the Company (including Baan, J.D. Edwards, PeopleSoft and Oracle), as well as rapid growth in the ERP market. The Company is currently organized into three divisions: the Americas Division which includes its North, South, and Central America operations; the EMEA Division which includes its Europe, Middle East, and Africa operations; and the Asia Pacific Division which includes its Australia, New Zealand, and Asia operations. In 1998, the Americas, EMEA, and Asia Pacific Divisions represented 63.9%, 28.1%, and 8.0% of revenue, respectively. The number of clients served by the Company has increased substantially from 52 in 1994 to 216 in 1998. The Company's client base is diversified, with no single client representing more than 6.0% of revenues in 1998. To support its rapid growth, the Company has expanded its staff from 181 as of December 31, 1994 to 863 as of December 31, 1998.

The Company derives substantially all of its revenue from fees for professional services related to supporting end-users in the implementation of ERP systems. Revenue from clients implementing SAP software represented 88% of billed consulting revenue for 1998. The majority of the Company's projects involve from three to 10 consultants, are generally completed in three months to two years, and result in revenue from \$200,000 to \$1.5 million. The Company often performs multiple projects for a client in support of a phased implementation of business information technology. The Company's services are generally provided pursuant to written contracts that can be terminated by the client with limited advance notice. In the event of such a

18

termination by the client, the client remains obligated to pay for the services rendered to the client to the termination date. The Company generally bills its clients monthly for the services provided by its consultants at agreed upon rates, and where permitted, for expenses. The Company provides services to its clients primarily on a time and materials basis, although many of its contracts contain "not-to-exceed" provisions and Company performance obligations. The remainder of the Company's contracts are on a fixed-price basis, representing approximately 17% of the Company's total revenue for 1998. Revenue from time and materials engagements as well as revenue from fixed price contracts is recognized as services are performed and the realization of the revenue is assured. The Company also receives a small percentage of total revenue from license fees related to computer-based training products and other software products that are developed independently or are co-developed by the Company. The Company believes that such license fees, which are not currently material, may increase in the future.

Cost of revenue includes compensation and benefits paid to the Company's professional staff and all direct expenses of performing project work. The Company's financial performance is highly dependent upon staff billing rates, costs, and utilization rates. The Company manages these parameters by establishing and monitoring project budgets and timetables and tracking staffing requirements for projects in progress and anticipated projects. Project terminations, completions, and scheduling delays may result in periods when consultants are not fully utilized. An unanticipated termination of a significant project could cause the Company to experience lower staff utilization. In addition, the establishment of new services or new offices, employee vacations and training, and increases in the hiring of consultants may result in periods of lower staff utilization and downward pressure on gross margins. The Company's professional staff are generally employed on a full-time basis, and therefore the Company incurs substantially all of its staff-related costs even during periods of low utilization. In the past, the Company has experienced some seasonality in its business, with somewhat lower levels of revenue and profitability in the first and fourth quarters of the year due to the timing of project start-ups and completions, as well as holidays and vacations.

Selling and marketing expense relates principally to compensation and benefits paid to the Company's dedicated sales staff and all direct costs associated with the sales process. Development expense consists principally of compensation costs for the Company's in-house research and development and information technology and consulting services support teams. These personnel focus on development of methodologies and applications of new technologies, including development of computer-based training courseware and performance support software and content. Development expense also includes personnel who provide technical support for the Company's professional staff in the field. General and administrative expense consists principally of salaries and benefits for executive management and for accounting, administrative, human resources, and recruiting and training staff, as well as compensation for the senior management in each of the Company's divisions.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June, 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities and is effective after June 15, 1999. As the Company is not presently involved in such instruments, adoption of this statement will not have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements.

19

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, income statement data expressed as a percentage of revenue and the percentage change in such items versus the previous comparable period.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

> Percentage of Revenue Percentage Years Ended Increase December 31, (Decrease)

	1996	1997	1998	1996 to 1997	to 1998
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Revenue	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	68.7%	81.3%
Cost of revenue	54.2	54.4	50.9	69.6	69.6
Gross profit	45.8	45.6	49.1	67.7	95.2
Selling and marketing expense	7.5	8.4	6.5	90.8	39.1
Development expense	4.8	2.7	3.9	(2.2)	152.7
General and administrative expense	25.1	28.1	29.9	88.5	92.4
Amortization expense	1.0	0.1	0.0	(80.3)	(46.3)
Employee stock-related charge	7.1	0.6	0.0	nmf*	nmf*
Operating income(1)	0.3	5.5	8.8	2948.8	190.7
Other (expense) income, net		. ,	0.0	(242.1)	(116.3)
Income before taxes	0.7	5.2	 o o	1216.6	208.7
Provision for income taxes		2.0		535.5	208.7
FIOVISION LOT INCOME Laxes		2.0		555.5	214.0
Net income(1)	0.2%	3.2%	5.3%	4,041.2%	205.3%
		=====	=====		

</TABLE>

* Not material to the financial statements

(1) Exclusive of employee stock-related charges and amortization expense related to other intangible assets, operating income and net income would have increased 24.8% and 11.5%, respectively, in 1997 compared to 1996.

Year Ended December 31, 1998 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1997

Revenue. Revenues increased by \$35.9 million, or 81.3%, from \$44.2 million in 1997 to \$80.1 million in 1998. The increase was substantially attributable to an increase in volume of services and is to a lesser extent attributable to rate increases. The Company experienced growth in all of its divisions. Revenues from the Americas Division increased by 78.8% from \$28.7 million to \$51.2 million; revenues from the EMEA Division increased by 98.4% from \$11.3 million to \$22.5 million; and revenues from the Asia Pacific Division increased by 52.2% from \$4.2 million to \$6.4 million. The Company ended the 1998 period with 863 total employees, up from 568 employees at the beginning of the period. In addition, the Company opened four new offices during the period, and closed two smaller offices, increasing the total number of offices to 17.

Gross profit. Gross profit increased by \$19.2 million, or 95.2%, from \$20.1 million in 1997 to \$39.3 million in 1998, and increased from 45.6% of revenue in 1997 to 49.1% of revenue in 1998. The increase is primarily attributable to increased consultant productivity through use of the Company's tools developed to enhance software systems training.

Selling and marketing expense. Selling and marketing expense increased by \$1.5 million, or 39.1%, from \$3.7 million in 1997 to \$5.2 million in 1998, and decreased as a percentage of revenue from 8.4% in 1997 to 6.5% in 1998. The increase was primarily attributable to the growth of the Company's sales and marketing staff from 23 employees at December 31, 1997 to 27 at December 31, 1998 and the expenses associated with the expanded efforts of those employees.

Development expense. Development expense increased by \$1.9 million, or 152.7%, from \$1.2 million in 1997 to \$3.1 million in 1998, and increased as a percentage of revenue from 2.7% in 1997 to 3.9% in 1998. Development expense increased significantly during 1998 due to the expenditures related to developing key products including DA FIT and tools to facilitate distance learning. Development expense was also incurred for

20

continued work on products co-developed with CBT Systems and continued work on the Company's DA Passport product. Development expense also includes expenses to develop a conversion plan for the Company's SAP system and support staff to introduce new products to the sales and field staff. General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense increased by \$11.5 million, or 92.5%, from \$12.4 million in 1997 to \$23.9 million in 1998, and increased as a percentage of revenue from 28.1% in 1997 to 29.9% in 1998. Expenses were incurred to continue to build the organization to support the growth during 1998 and future years. Increases included support staff, the addition of four new offices and the expansion of corporate headquarters.

Amortization expense. Amortization expense decreased by \$35,000, or 64.8%, from \$54,000 in 1997 to \$29,000 in 1998, and decreased as a percentage of revenue from 0.1% in 1997 to 0.0% in 1998. The decrease reflected the completion by June 30, 1997 of the amortization of other intangible assets created as a result of the Exchange Transaction on July 1, 1995.

Employee stock-related charge. While the Company incurred no employee stockrelated charges in 1998, the Company did incur charges of \$263,000 in 1997, related to stock awarded to employees and payments in lieu thereof. These charges had the effect of reducing net income by \$163,000 in 1997.

Operating income. Operating income increased by \$4.7 million or 190.7%, from \$2.4 million in 1997 to \$7.1 million in 1998. Operating income, exclusive of employee stock-related charges and other intangible asset amortization, was 8.8% of revenue in 1998. On the same basis, operating income was \$2.7 million in 1997 and was 6.2% percent of revenue.

Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net increased from an expense of \$135,000 in 1997 to an income of \$22,000 in 1998. Interest income increased from \$30,000 in 1997 to \$299,000 in 1998, reflecting investment income from the investment of proceeds from the Company's initial public offering on April 24, 1998 (the "Offering").

Provision for income taxes. The increase in the Company's effective tax rate from 38.9% in 1997 to 39.6% in 1998 primarily relates to increased foreign income.

Net income. Net income was \$4.3 million in 1998 compared to \$1.4 million in 1997. Exclusive of the employee stock-related charges for other intangible asset amortization and for compensation charges related to stock awarded to employees and payments in lieu thereof, net income would have been \$1.7 million in 1997.

Year Ended December 31, 1997 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 1996

Revenue. Revenues from the Americas Division increased by 84.2% from \$15.6 million to \$28.7 million; revenues from the EMEA Division increased by 27.3% from \$8.9 million to \$11.3 million; and revenues from the Asia Pacific Division increased by 142.6% from \$1.7 million to \$4.2 million. The Company ended the 1997 period with 568 total employees, up from 353 employees at the beginning of the period. In addition, the Company opened five new offices during the period, increasing the total number of offices to 15.

Gross profit. Gross profit increased by \$8.1 million, or 67.7%, from \$12.0 million in 1996 to \$20.1 million in 1997, and decreased slightly from 45.8% of revenue in 1996 to 45.6% of revenue in 1997.

Selling and marketing expense. Selling and marketing expense increased by \$1.8 million, or 90.8%, from \$2.0 million in 1996 to \$3.7 million in 1997, and increased as a percentage of revenue from 7.5% in 1996 to 8.4% in 1997. The increases were primarily attributable to a substantial increase in the Company's sales and marketing staff from 13 employees at December 31, 1996 to 23 at December 31, 1997.

Development expense. Development expense decreased by \$27,000, or 2.2%, from \$1.3 million in 1996 to \$1.2 million in 1997, and decreased as a percentage of revenue from 4.8% in 1996 to 2.7% in 1997. The

21

decreases were primarily attributable to the reduction of certain in-house software development expenses in 1997 as a result of the Company's relationship with CBT Systems. This relationship enables the Company to outsource to CBT Systems the primary responsibility for developing SAP-related computer-based training software. Payments received for the sale of this software, net of any royalty due CBT Systems, are recorded as product revenue. The Company expects that development expense will increase both in dollars spent and as a percent of revenue in the future as the Company continues to expand its service offerings.

General and administrative expense. General and administrative expense increased by \$5.8 million, or 88.5%, from \$6.6 million in 1996 to \$12.4 million in 1997, and increased as a percentage of revenue from 25.1% in 1996 to 28.1% in 1997. The increases were primarily attributable to substantial expenditures in building the administrative infrastructure of the Company to support future growth. Of these expenditures, approximately 60% related to increases in the Company's management and administrative staff (including the hiring of a chief financial officer, corporate controller, and executive vice president for human resources and the appointment of an executive vice president for research and development and five members of senior divisional management) and the balance related to information technology infrastructure investments and increased occupancy costs related to the expansion of existing office space and the establishment of new offices.

Amortization expense. Amortization expense decreased by \$220,000, or 80.3%, from \$274,000 in 1996 to \$54,000 in 1997, and decreased as a percentage of revenue from 1.0% in 1996 to 0.1% in 1997. The decrease reflected the completion by June 30, 1997 of the amortization of other intangible assets created as a result of the Exchange Transaction on July 1, 1995.

Employee stock-related charge. The Company incurred charges of \$1.9 million and \$263,000 in 1996 and 1997, respectively, related to stock awarded to employees and payments in lieu thereof. These charges had the effect of reducing net income by \$1.2 million in 1996 and \$163,000 in 1997.

Operating income. Operating income increased by \$2.4 million, from \$80,000 in 1996 to \$2.4 million in 1997. Exclusive of the non-recurring charges for other intangible asset amortization and for compensation charges related to stock awarded to employees and payments in lieu thereof, operating income increased by \$544,000, or 24.8%, from \$2.2 million in 1996 to \$2.7 million in 1997 and decreased as a percentage of revenue from 8.4% in 1996 to 6.2% in 1997.

Other income (expense), net. Other income (expense), net decreased from income of \$95,000 in 1996 to expense of \$135,000 in 1997. This change reflects increased borrowings to support the Company's growth in 1997.

Provision for income taxes. The Company's effective tax rate decreased from 80.6% in 1996 to 38.9% in 1997, primarily due to the higher level of nondeductible amortization expense in 1996 than in 1997. Exclusive of the nonrecurring charges for other intangible asset amortization and for compensation charges related to stock awarded to employees and payments in lieu thereof, the effective tax rates would have been 37.0% in 1996, and 38.3% in 1997.

Net income. Net income was \$1.4 million in 1997 compared to \$34,000 in 1996. Exclusive of the non-recurring charges for other intangible asset amortization and for compensation charges related to stock awarded to employees and payments in lieu thereof, net income would have been \$1.6 million in 1997 and \$1.4 million in 1996, or \$0.32 per share in both 1996 and 1997 on a diluted basis.

22

Quarterly Operating Results

The following tables set forth unaudited income statement data for each of the eight quarters in the period beginning January 1, 1997 and ending December 31, 1998, as well as the percentage of the Company's total revenue represented by each item. In management's opinion, this unaudited information has been prepared on a basis consistent with the Company's audited annual financial statements and includes all adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the quarters presented, when read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and related Notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report on Form 10-K.

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	Three Months Ended									
	March 31, 1997	June 30, 1997	1997	Dec. 31, 1997	March 31, 1998	1998	Sept. 30, 1998	Dec. 31, 1998		
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>			ept per sha <c></c>		<c></c>	<c></c>		
Income Statement Data:								107		
Revenue Cost of revenue		\$9,987 5,609		\$14,148 7,361	\$14,587 7,740	\$19,703 10,278	\$21,882 11,231	\$23,960 11,563		
Gross profit Selling and marketing		4,288	5,535		6,847	9,425	10,651	12,397		
expense Development expense General and administrative		898 250	956 341	1,148 387	1,221 460	1,214 536	1,346 998	1,403 1,097		
expense Amortization expense		2,558 22	3,450 5	4,074 5	4,169 5	5,803 5	6,211 5	7,743 14		
Employee stock-related charge				263						
Operating income (loss)	186	560	783	910	992	1,867	2,091	2,140		
Other income (expense), net		(33)	(28)	(72)	(113)	(160)	161	134		
Income (loss) before taxes Provision (benefit) for		527	755	838	879	1,707	2,252	2,274		
income taxes		209	288	321	334	677	914	888		
Net (loss) income(1)	\$ 106 =====	\$ 318 =====	\$ 467 ======	\$ 517 ======	\$ 545 =======	\$ 1,030	\$ 1,338	\$ 1,386		
Basic earnings (loss)										
per share Weighted average shares		\$ 0.07	\$ 0.10	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.11	\$ 0.17	\$ 0.20	\$ 0.21		
outstanding Diluted earnings (loss)		4,808	4,808	4,808	4,808	5,978	6,555	6,547		
per share Weighted average shares outstanding		\$ 0.06	\$ 0.09 5,053	\$ 0.10 5,053	\$ 0.11 5,053	\$ 0.16 6,264	\$ 0.20 6,822	\$ 0.20 6,800		
<caption></caption>	5,055	5,053			ge of Reven		0,022	0,000		
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>		
Revenue Cost of revenue		100.0% 56.7	100.0% 54.2	100.0% 52.0	100.0% 53.1	100.0% 52.2	100.0% 51.3	100.0% 48.3		
Gross profit Selling and marketing		43.3	45.8	48.0	46.9	47.8	48.7	51.7		
expense	9.0	9.1	7.9	8.1	8.4	6.2	6.2	5.9		
Development expense General and administrative	3.0	2.5	2.8	2.8	3.2	2.7	4.6	4.6		
expense	29.1	25.9	28.6	28.8	28.6	29.5	28.4	32.3		
Amortization expense Employee stock-related	0.3	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
charge	0.0	0.0	0.0	1.9	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0		
Operating income										
(loss) Other income (expense),		5.6	6.5	6.4	6.8	9.5	9.6	8.9		
net	0.0	(0.3)	(0.2)	(0.5)	(0.7)	(0.8)	0.7	0.6		

----- ----- ------ ------

5.3 6.3 5.9 6.0 8.7 10.3 9.5

Income (loss) before

taxes..... 2.3

Provision (benefit) for								
income taxes	1.0	2.1	2.4	2.3	2.3	3.4	4.2	3.7
Net income (loss)	1.3%	3.2%	3.9%	3.6%	3.7%	5.2%	6.1%	5.8%
	======	======			=======			

</TABLE>

(1) Exclusive of the amortization expense related to other intangible assets and employee stock-related charges, net income for the eight quarters ended December 31, 1997 would have been \$433,000, \$435,000, \$387,000, \$186,000, \$123,000, \$336,000, \$467,000 and \$680,000, respectively.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since its inception, the Company has financed its operations and growth with cash flow from operations, supplemented by the issuance of Common Stock and by short-term borrowings under its revolving bank line of credit and from shareholders.

23

The Company's cash and cash equivalents were \$2.2 million as of December 31, 1996, \$3.7 million as of December 31, 1997 and \$10.0 million as of December 31, 1998. The Company's working capital was \$1.6 million as of December 31, 1996, \$4.1 million as of December 31, 1997 and \$25.6 million as of December 31, 1998.

The Company's operating activities provided cash of \$5.8 million in 1998, compared with using cash of \$2.4 million in 1997. The increase is primarily attributable to net income growth in addition to an improvement in the days sales outstanding. The Company's operating activities used cash of \$2.4 million in 1997 compared to \$1.9 million provided in 1996. The use of cash in operations in 1997 primarily resulted from an increase in receivables.

The Company invested \$17.4 million in 1998 compared to \$2.0 million in 1997 and \$709,000 in 1996. Of the \$17.4 million, the Company invested \$10.0 million from the proceeds from the Offering in short-term investments and \$7.4 million in capitalized fixed assets, including the costs of implementing the Company's primary information system. The increases in the use of cash for investing activities in 1997 compared to 1996 resulted from increased purchases of computer and office equipment and leasehold improvements related to the expansion of the Company's business and the support of new office openings.

The Company's financing activities provided cash of \$18.6 million for 1998 and \$5.9 million for 1997. The increase in cash from financing activities in 1998 resulted from private placements of shares and an initial public offering of common stock. Cash was used to repay notes payable and the revolving line of credit. In 1996, the Company's financing activities generated cash of \$372,000 from funds borrowed from shareholders, the revolving line of credit and the issuance of stock.

During 1996, the Company entered into a credit facility with a financial institution with a maximum credit limit of \$1,000,000, which expired in March 1997. In March 1997 and September 1997, the Company amended and renewed the credit facility, increasing the available line from \$1,000,000 to \$3,500,000 and \$5,000,000, respectively. Interest is payable monthly at prime plus 0.5% per year (9.0% and 8.25% at December 31, 1997 and 1998, respectively). The credit facility matures in November 2000 and is collateralized by the accounts receivable of the Company's North American operations. The debt on this line of credit was fully repaid during the year ended December 31, 1997 was \$3,208,000.

During 1999, the Company expects to make approximately \$10.0 million in capital expenditures primarily for capitalized implementation costs of the Company's primary information system, computer and office equipment, and lease improvements to support the anticipated growth in its professional and administrative staff. Capital expenditures will be financed by a combination of available cash resources and lease financing. Capital expenditures in 1998 were \$7.4 million.

The Company believes its current cash and investment balances, cash provided by future operations, and its revolving line of credit, will be sufficient to meet the Company's working capital and cash needs for at least the next 12 months.

The Company capitalizes software development costs beginning when product technological feasibility is established and concluding when the product is ready for general release. At such time, software development costs are amortized on the straight-line basis over a maximum of three years or the expected life of the product, whichever is less. In 1998, the Company capitalized \$728,000 of implementation costs of the Company's primary information system. Amortization will begin in 1999 when the implementation is completed. Research costs related to software development are expensed as incurred. During 1997, the Company capitalized \$141,000 of software development costs relating to computer-based training software development and its commencement of the development of packaged consulting applications.

24

Because the Company has been and is currently able to match the local currency component of client engagements to the amount of operating costs transacted in local currency, the Company does not currently hedge against currency fluctuations.

YEAR 2000 COMPLIANCE ISSUES.

Assessment: The Company has analyzed and identified the anticipated consequences that the Year 2000 issue may have on its worldwide operations. Currently the major systems in use by the Company may be affected by the Year 2000 issue. However, the Company has taken the significant steps described below toward minimizing the risk associated with non-compliance.

Internal Project: During 1998, the Company began to implement plans to ensure that its systems continue to meet its internal and external requirements. During the third quarter of 1998, the Company commenced its worldwide business systems replacement project that will use programs from SAP America, Inc. whose software is Year 2000 compliant. Implementation of this SAP system is scheduled for completion by the third quarter of 1999.

Internal Systems: In addition to computer and software systems, the Company recognizes that the use of internal systems such as telephone systems and other business-related items may be effected by the Year 2000 issue. The Company is currently addressing the potential effects and the cost to mitigate these affects, and believes that the necessary steps can be taken to upgrade or replace these items without material effect on the Company's financial position.

Third Parties: The Company has initiated communications with third parties with which the Company does business in order to identify, to the extent possible, the status of such parties' Year 2000 readiness. Although these companies have confirmed that they will indeed be compliant by the Year 2000, the Company has limited or no control over the actions taken by these third parties. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that all third parties with which the Company does business will successfully resolve all of their Year 2000 compliance issues. The failure of these third parties to resolve their Year 2000 compliance issues could have an adverse effect on the Company. The Company's present analysis of its worst case scenario included Year 2000 failures in the telecommunications and electricity industries that may cause disruptions in the Company's operations, thus causing an inability to provide services to customers and temporary financial losses.

Contingency Plan: While the Company is in the process of addressing its Year 2000 issues prior to being affected by them, there can be no assurances as to the ultimate success of the Company's compliance efforts. Uncertainties exist as to the Company's ability to detect all Year 2000 problems. If the progress of its current conversion project deviates from the expected timeline, the Company will implement its contingency plan to convert the one known existing non-compliant financial system over a one-month period. Management believes that current monitoring and actions provide ample response time to avoid material and adverse effects on the Company's business and financial results. However, the Company is unable to quantify at this time the potential effect

of any customer or Company non-compliance on the Company's business or financial results. The Company has completed nearly 25% of its system conversions at December 31,1998.

The expected cost of the Company's current systems conversion is approximately \$6 million, in addition to \$1.8 million expended in 1998. This conversion is not necessary in order for the Company to become Year 2000 compliant. The cost of converting the only non-compliant system would be nominal.

25

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company holds short-term investments which consist of variable rate municipal debt instruments. The Company uses a sensitivity analysis technique to evaluate the hypothetical effect that changes in market interest rates may have on the fair value of the Company's investments. At December 31, 1998, the potential decrease in the fair value of investments assuming a ten percent adverse change in the market rates is not significant.

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements of the Company are included in pages 29 through 44.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

There were no changes in accountants, disagreements, or other events requiring reporting under this item.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

Information relating executive officers and certain significant employees is included herein. See "Business--Company Management". Information relating to the Company's directors is included in the Company's definitive Proxy Statement in connection with its 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "1998 Proxy Statement"), which will be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission within 120 days after the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 1998, under the captions "ELECTION OF DIRECTORS" and "CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS" is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item 10.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information relating to executive compensation is set forth in the 1998 Proxy Statement under the captions "ELECTION OF DIRECTORS--Compensation of Directors" and "EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION" and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item 11.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT

Information relating to ownership of Registrant's Common Stock by management and certain other beneficial owners is set forth in the 1998 Proxy Statement under the caption "SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT" and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item 12.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

Information relating to certain relationships and related transactions is set forth in the 1998 Proxy Statement under the caption "CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS" and is incorporated herein by reference in response to this Item 13.

26

PART IV

ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

(a) Documents filed as a part of this Report.

1. The following financial statements of the Company and the related report of independent accountants are filed herewith:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

Page Number <S> <C> Report of Independent Accountants..... 30 Consolidated Financial Statements: Balance Sheets as of December 31, 1997 and 1998..... 31 Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997, and 1998..... 32 Statements of Stockholders' Equity for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998..... 33 Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 34 and 1998..... Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements..... 35 </TABLE>

2. Schedules for which provisions were made in accordance with applicable accounting regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission are inapplicable and therefore have been omitted.

- 3. Exhibits
- (a) Exhibits

<TABLE>

<CAPTION> Exhibit No. Description _____ _____ <C> <S> 1.1 --Form of Underwriting Agreement by and among the Company, the Underwriters and the Selling Shareholders* --Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the 3.1 Company* 3.2 --Restated By-Laws of the Company 4.1 --Specimen Stock Certificate* 5.1 --Opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP dated March 20, 1998* --Opinion of Pepper Hamilton LLP dated April 16, 1998* 5.2 10.1 --1997 Stock Option Plan (including form of option agreements)* 10.2 --Employment Agreement between the Company and Nick Marriner* 10.3 --Employment Agreement between the Company and Patrick J. Newton* 10.4 --Employment Agreement between the Company and Michael J. Mackey* 10.5 --Employment Agreement between the Company and Lisa L. Costello* 10.6 --Employment Agreement between the Company and Eric J. Fernette* 10.7 --Form of Consulting Agreement dated October 27, 1997, between the Company and Richard W. Thatcher, Jr.* 10.8 --Letter Loan Agreement dated March 18, 1996 between Documentation Associates, Inc. (now known as DA Consulting Group (USA), Inc.) and Southwest Bank of Texas, N.A.* 10.9 --First Amendment to Letter Loan Agreement, dated November, 1996, between D.A. Consulting Group, Inc. (now known as DA Consulting Group (USA), Inc.) and Southwest Bank of Texas, N.A.* 10.10 --Second Amendment to Letter Loan Agreement, dated May 18, 1997, between D.A. Consulting Group, Inc. (now known as DA Consulting Group (USA), Inc.) and Southwest Bank of Texas, N.A.*

10.11 --Third Amendment to Letter Loan Agreement, dated effective May 1997, between D.A. Consulting Group, Inc. (now known as DA Consulting Group (USA), Inc.) and Southwest Bank of Texas, N.A.*

27

Exhibit No.	Description
<c></c>	 <s></s>
10.12	Fourth Amendment to Letter Loan Agreement, dated effective November 26, 1997, between D.A. Consulting Group, Inc. (r known as DA Consulting Group (USA), Inc.) and Southwest E of Texas, N.A.*
10.13	Continuing Guaranty, dated May 27, 1997, of DA International, Inc. (now known as DA Consulting Group, In in favor of Southwest Bank of Texas, N.A.*
10.14	Promissory Note, dated October 7, 1997, of D.A. Consulting Group, Inc. (now known as DA Consulting Group (USA), Inc. payable to Heller Financial, Inc.*
10.15	Security Agreement, dated October 7, 1997, between D.A. Consulting Group, Inc. (now known as DA Consulting Group (USA), Inc.) and Heller Financial, Inc.*
10.16	Promissory Note dated August 8, 1997 from Michael J. Mack to the Company in the original principal amount of \$89,64
10.17	Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Company and Lisa Costello*
10.18	DA Consulting Group, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan*
10.19	Amended and Restated 1997 Stock Option Plan*
11.1	Computation of Net Income Per Share dated January 9, 1998
11.2	Computation of Pro Forma Earnings per Share dated March 2 1998*
11.3	Computation of Pro Forma Earnings per Share dated March 3 1998*
11.4	Computation of Pro Forma Earnings per Share dated April 2 1998*
16.1	Letter re change in certifying accountants dated January 1998*
16.2	Letter re change in certifying accountants dated March 30 1998*
21.1	Subsidiaries*
23.1	Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
23.2	Consent of Pepper Hamilton LLP (included in Exhibit 5.2)*
24	Power of Attorney (included on Signature Pages)*

* Previously filed.

(b) Financial Statement Schedules:

All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or the required information is included in the Financial Statements or the notes thereto.

28

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized on March 26, 1999.

DA Consulting Group, Inc. (Registrant)

/s/ Nicholas H. Marriner

</TABLE>

By: Nicholas H. Marriner Chief Executive Officer and Director /s/ Michael J. Mackey By: Michael J. Mackey Chief Financial Officer, Executive Vice President, Finance and Administration, Treasurer and Secretary Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant in the capacities indicated on March 26, 1999. <TABLE> <S> <C> Signature Title Chief Executive /s/ Nicholas H. Marriner ----- Officer and Nicholas H. Marriner Chairman of the Board /s/ Michael J. Mackey Chief Financial ----- Officer, Executive Michael J. Mackey Vice President--Finance and Administration, Treasurer and Secretary /s/ Patrick J. Newton Director, President ----- and Chief Operating Patrick J. Newton Officer /s/ Nigel W. E. Curlet Director _____ Nigel W. E. Curlet /s/ Gunther E. A. Fritze Director _____ Gunther E. A. Fritze /s/ Virginia L. Pierpont Director _____ Virginia L. Pierpont /s/ Richard W. Thatcher, Jr. Director _____ Richard W. Thatcher, Jr. </TABLE>

29

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of DA Consulting Group, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of DA Consulting Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") at December 31, 1997 and 1998, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles. These financial statements are

the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP Houston, Texas February 19, 1999

30

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share amounts)

Years ended

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

		r 31,
ASSETS	1997	
<s></s>	<c></c>	
Current Assets:		
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 3,664	\$ 9,971
Short-term investments Accounts receivable:		10,033
Trade, net	10,934	15,980
Other	800	. 35
Unbilled revenue	645	1,589
Income taxes receivable		1,310
Prepaid expenses and other current assets	250	626
Total current assets		39,544
Property and equipment, net	2,507	8,759
Other assets	898	182
Intangible assets, net	437	418
Total assets		\$48,903
<caption></caption>		
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY		
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Current Liabilities:		
Revolving line of credit Note payable	\$ 3,208 762	\$
Accounts payable	1,841	2,954
Accrued expenses	5,517	8,903
Deferred income	312	1,345
Income taxes payable	333	592
Deferred income taxes	219	165
Total current liabilities		
Commitments and contingencies Shareholders' equity:		
<pre>Preferred stock, \$0.01 par value: 10,000,000 shares authorized Common stock, \$0.01 par value: 40,000,000 shares authorized;</pre>		
4,829,191 and 6,571,777 shares issued and 4,808,475 and		
6,550,074 shares outstanding	48	65

Additional paid-in capital Retained earnings Accumulated other comprehensive income Treasury stock, at cost: 20,716 and 21,703 shares Notes receivable from shareholders	2,099 (59) (91)	29,359 6,398 (762) (116)
Total shareholders' equity Total liabilities and shareholders' equity		34,944 \$48,903

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

31

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	Years ended December 31,			
		1997		
<\$>		<c></c>		
Revenue	\$26 , 202	\$44,204	\$80 , 132	
Cost of revenue		24,063		
Gross profit				
Selling and marketing expense	1,953	3,726	5,184	
Development expense	1,250	1,223	3,091	
General and administrative expense	6 , 597	,	23,926	
Amortization expense	274	54	29	
Employee stock-related charge		263		
Operating income	 80	2,439	7,090	
Interest (expense) income, net			299	
Other (expense) income, net		(165)		
Total other (expense) income, net	95	(135)	22	
Income before taxes	175			
Provision for income taxes:				
Current provision	281	888	2,867	
Deferred provision (benefit)			(54)	
Provision for income taxes	141	896	2,813	
Net income	\$ 34 ======	\$ 1,408	\$ 4,299	
Basic earnings per share Weighted average shares outstanding	\$ 0.01	\$ 0.29	\$ 0.72	
Diluted earnings per share Weighted average shares outstanding 				

 \$ 0.01 4,462 | | || | | | |
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

(in thousands)

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

<caption></caption>	Comm Stoc	k	Additional		Accumulated Other	Treas Stoc	:k	Notes Receivable	Total
		Par	Paid-In Capital	Earnings	l Comprehensive Income	Number		From Stockholders	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>		<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Balance as of December									
31, 1995		\$42	· ·	\$ 657	\$ (77)		\$	\$	\$ 1,891
Stock contribution Issuance of common			28			1,170	(28)		
stock	235	2	1,490			(949)	23	(413)	1,102
Net income Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of				34					34
taxes of \$182					44				44
Balance as of December									
31, 1996 Issuance of common	4,435	44	2,787	691	(33)	221	(5)	(413)	3,071
stock Employee stock	394	4	3,662			(218)	5	(90)	3,581
repurchases						18	(91)		(91)
Net income Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of				1,408					1,408
taxes of \$17					(26)				(26)
Balance as of December									
31, 1997 Issuance of common	4,829	48	6,449	2,099	(59)	21	(91)	(503)	7,943
stock Income tax benefit related to restricted	1,743	17	21,129						21,146
stock plan Employee stock			1,781						1,781
repurchases Repayment of stockholder notes						1	(25)		(25)
receivable								503	503
Net income Foreign currency translation adjustment, net of				4,299					4,299
taxes of \$459					(703)				(703)
Balance as of December									
31, 1998	6,572 =====	\$65 ===	\$29,359 ======	\$6,398 ======	\$(762) =====	22	\$(116) =====	\$ ====	\$34,944 ======

 | | | | | | | | |</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

33

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)

<caption></caption>			
	Years		
	1996	1997	1998
<s> Cash flows from operating activities:</s>		<c></c>	
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash	\$ 34	\$ 1,408	\$ 4,299
provided by (used in) operating activities: Depreciation and amortization	395	453	1,138
Deferred income taxes Loss on sale on fixed assets	(140)		(-)
Stock awarded to employees Changes in operating assets and liabilities: (Increase) in accounts receivable and unbilled	898		
revenue	(861)	(7,872)	(5,225)
other current assets		151	
(Increase) in other assets Increase in accounts payable and accrued			
liabilities Increase in deferred income	1,919	3,083	4,499
Increase in deferred income Increase (decrease) in income taxes payable	(17)		730
Total Adjustments	1,866		
Net cash provided by (used in) operating			
activities			-
Cash flows from investing activities.			
Cash flows from investing activities: Proceeds from sale of property and equipment	17		39
Purchases of short-term investments			(10,033)
Purchases of property and equipment		(1,955)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(709)		(17,392)
Cash flows from financing activities:			
Net proceeds from (repayments of) revolving line of			
credit Proceeds from (repayments of) note payable	125		(3,208) (762)
Proceeds from (repayments of) note payable to		102	(702)
shareholders Repayments of notes receivable from shareholders	43	(356)	 503
Issuance of stock		3,581	
Employee stock repurchases		(91)	
Offering costs		(853)	(3,224)
Net cash provided by financing activities	372	5,876	18,552
Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rate		(0.0)	(700)
on cash and cash equivalents	44		
Increase in cash and cash equivalents Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year			
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year			\$ 9 , 971

</TABLE>

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

34

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations & Basis of Presentation

DA Consulting Group, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the "Company") is a leading international provider of employee education and end-user support solutions to companies which are implementing enterprise resource planning software systems and other business information technology systems.

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Short-Term Investments

Short-term investments are those, that when purchased, have maturities greater that three months. As of December 31, 1998, the short-term investments consist of variable rate municipal debt instruments, which result in no unrealized holding gains or losses. As the Company does not intend to hold the investments until their stated maturity dates, the Company has classified all investments as available-for-sale. The Company records its short-term investments at cost, which approximates market value and is determined using the specific identification method.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost. Expenditures for substantial renewals and betterments are capitalized, while repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. Assets are depreciated or amortized using the straight-line method for financial reporting purposes and accelerated methods for tax purposes over their estimated useful lives ranging from three to seven years. Gains or losses from disposals of property and equipment are reflected in income.

Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes software development costs beginning when product technological feasibility is established and concluding when the product is ready for general release. At such time, software development costs are amortized on the straight-line basis over a maximum of three years or the expected life of the product, whichever is less. In 1998, the Company capitalized \$728,000 of implementation costs of the Company's primary information system. Amortization will begin in 1999 when the implementation is completed. Research costs related to software development are expensed as incurred. During 1997, the Company capitalized \$141,000 of software development costs relating to computer-based training software development and its commencement of the development of packaged consulting applications.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes deferred income taxes for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been included in the financial statements or tax returns. Under this method, deferred income taxes are

35

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued) determined based on the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts and tax basis of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in

effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse.

Foreign Currency Translation

For the Company's foreign subsidiaries, the local currency is the functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at year-end exchange rates, and related revenue and expenses are translated at the average exchange rates in effect during the period. Resulting translation adjustments are recorded as a separate component in shareholders' equity.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments and trade accounts receivable. The Company maintains cash deposits and short-term investments, which exceed Federally insured limits, with several major financial institutions. Management periodically assesses the financial condition of the financial institutions and investees and believes that any possible credit risk is minimal. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its clients and generally does not require collateral for services. Bad debts have not been significant in relation to the volume of revenue.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, revolving line of credit, and accounts payable approximate fair values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The estimated fair values of these instruments have been determined by the Company using available market information.

Revenue Recognition

The majority of the Company's contracts with clients are based on time and expenses incurred with the remainder of the revenue generated from fixed price contracts. Accordingly, service revenue under both types of contracts is recognized as services are performed and the realization of the revenue is assured. Contract costs include direct labor costs and reimbursable expenses, and those indirect costs related to contract performance such as indirect labor. Selling, general and administrative costs are charged to expense as incurred. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in which such losses are determined. Changes in job performance, job conditions and estimated profitability may result in revisions to costs and income and are recognized in the period in which the revisions are determined. Unbilled revenue represents the revenue earned in excess of amounts billed and deferred income represents billings in excess of revenue earned. Revenue includes reimbursable expenses directly incurred in providing services to clients. Revenue attributable to reimbursable expenses amounted to \$1,664,000, \$3,680,000 and \$7,745,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. The Company recognizes product revenue upon shipment of the product to the client.

Significant Clients

No individual client accounted for more than 10% of consolidated revenue for any period presented.

Segment Information

The Company operates within one industry segment.

36

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Earnings Per Share

In February 1997, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 128, Earnings Per Share ("SFAS No.

128"). SFAS No. 128 specifies the computation, presentation and disclosure requirements of earnings per share and supercedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 15, Earnings Per Share. SFAS No. 128 requires a dual presentation of the basic and diluted earnings per share. Basic earnings per share, which is based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, replaces primary earnings per share. Diluted earnings per share, which is based on the weighted average number of common and dilutive potential common shares outstanding, replaces fully diluted earnings per share and utilizes the average market price per share as opposed to the greater of the average market price per share or ending market price per share when applying the treasury stock method in determining dilutive potential shares. SFAS No. 128 is effective for the Company in 1998 and requires all prior-period earnings per share data to be restated to conform to its presentation. Accordingly, the Company has restated all previously reported earnings in per share amounts.

Accounting for Stock Options

In October 1995, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation ("SFAS No. 123"), which sets forth accounting and disclosure requirements for stock option and other stock-based compensation plans. The statement encourages, but does not require, companies to record stock-based compensation expense using a fair-value method, rather than the intrinsicvalue method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board ("APB") Opinion No. 25. The Company has adopted only the disclosure requirements of SFAS No. 123 and has elected to continue to record stock-based compensation expense using the intrinsic-value approach prescribed by APB No. 25. Accordingly, the Company computes compensation cost as the amount by which the fair market price of the Company's common stock exceeds the exercise price on the date of grant. The amount of compensation cost, if any, is charged to income over the vesting period.

Comprehensive Income

In 1998, the Company adopted SFAS No.130, Reporting Comprehensive Income. This statement establishes rules for the reporting of comprehensive income and its components. Comprehensive income consists of net income and foreign currency translation adjustments and is presented in the Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity. The adoption of SFAS 130 had no impact on total shareholders' equity. Prior year financial statements have been reclassified to conform to the SFAS 130 requirements.

Segment Reporting

In 1998, the Company adopted SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information. SFAS No. 131 establishes standards for reporting information about operating segments in annual financial statements and requires that those enterprises report selected information about operating segments in interim financial reports issued to shareholders. Adoption of this statement did not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities ("SFAS No. 133"). SFAS No.133 establishes accounting and reporting standards for derivative instruments and hedging activities and requires that an entity recognize all derivatives as either assets or liabilities in the statement of financial position

37

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS-- (Continued)

and measure those instruments at fair value. SFAS No. 133 is effective for all fiscal quarters of fiscal years beginning after June 15, 1999. Earlier application of all of the provisions of the Statement is encouraged, but it is permitted only as of the beginning of any fiscal quarter that begins after

issuance of the Statement. As the Company is not presently involved in such instruments, adoption of this statement will not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

Reclassifications

Certain amounts previously reported have been reclassified to conform to current period presentation. These reclassifications have no effect on consolidated assets, liabilities, stockholders' equity or net income.

2. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

The components of property and equipment were as follows (in thousands): <TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	Years Decemb	
	1997	1998
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Computer equipment and software	\$2,045 74	
Furniture and fixtures Leasehold improvements	894 108	2,045 567
Development costs	141	728
Purchased software		1,113
Property and equipment Less accumulated depreciation and amortization		
Property and equipment, net	\$2,507 =====	\$ 8,759 ======

</TABLE>

3. INDEBTEDNESS FOR BORROWED MONEY

Revolving Line of Credit

During 1996, the Company entered into a credit facility with a financial institution with a maximum credit limit of \$1,000,000, which expired in March 1997. In March 1997 and September 1997, the Company amended and renewed the credit facility increasing the available line from \$1,000,000 to \$3,500,000 and \$5,000,000, respectively. Interest is payable monthly at prime plus 0.5% per year (9.0% and 8.25% at December 31, 1997 and 1998, respectively). The credit facility matures in November 2000 and is collateralized by the accounts receivable of the Company's North American operations. The debt on this line of credit was fully repaid during the year ended December 31, 1997 was \$3,208,000.

Notes Payable

In 1997, the Company borrowed approximately \$762,000 for the purchase of furniture and equipment. The borrowing bears an annual interest rate of 9.1%, with interest and principal of approximately \$24,000, payable monthly. The note payable was repaid in full during the year ended December 31, 1998. The borrowing was collateralized by the furniture and fixtures purchased. Total interest expense related to this note for the years ended December 31, 1997 and 1998 amounted to \$196,000 and \$68,000, respectively.

38

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

4. ACCRUED EXPENSES

The components of accrued expenses were as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>

	Years Decembe	ended er 31,
	1997	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Compensation and related expenses	\$2 , 077	\$2,006
Bonuses	1,241	3,406
Professional fees	1,084	979
Vacations	328	770
Other taxes	272	940
Other	515	802
Accrued expenses	\$5,517	\$8,903

</TABLE>

5. INCOME TAXES

The following is a summary of the significant components of the Company's deferred income taxes (in thousands):

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	enc Decer	ars ded mber 1,
	1997	1998
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Deferred tax assets:		
Deferred compensation	\$305	\$
Accrued expenses	157	234
Other	12	128
Deferred tax assets	474	362
Defensed to lightlichter.		
Deferred tax liabilities:	500	200
Cash to accrual temporary differences		
Property, plant and equipment	110	165
Deferred tax liabilities	693	527
Net deferred tax liabilities	\$219 ====	\$165 ====

</TABLE>

The components of the Company's provision for income taxes were as follows (in thousands):

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	Years ended December 31,			
	1996	1997	1998	
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
United States federal and state: Current provision Deferred (benefit) provision			\$2,073 (182)	
	(260)	762	1,891	
Foreign:				
Current provision Deferred (benefit) provision	281 120	236 (102)	794 128	
	401	134	922	

Provision for income taxes	\$ 141	\$ 896	\$2,813
	=====	=====	

</TABLE>

39

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

The difference between the effective federal income tax rate reflected in the provision for income taxes and the federal income tax rate are summarized as follows:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	Years ended December 31,		
		1997	
<\$>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
U.S. statutory rate	34.0%	34.0%	34.0%
Amortization of intangible assets	49.2	0.9	0.2
State and local	2.9	3.0	2.1
Foreign	(8.5)	(1.8)	2.9
Other	3.0	2.8	0.4
Effective tax rate	80.6%	38.9%	39.6%

</TABLE>

The U.S. components of income (loss) before taxes were (0.9), 1.8 and 5.0million in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively, and the foreign components were \$1.1, \$0.5, and \$2.1 million in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. The loss before taxes in 1996 includes the \$1.8 million employee stock-related charge.

Applicable U.S. income taxes have not been provided on \$2.8 million of undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998. The Company considers such earnings to be permanently invested outside the U.S. The earnings could be subject to U.S. income tax if distributed to the Company as dividends or otherwise. The Company anticipates that foreign tax credits would substantially reduce the amount of U.S. income tax payable if these earnings were repatriated.

6. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

Stock Options

Effective February 1, 1997, the Company adopted its 1997 Stock Option Plan (the "Option Plan"), a stock-based incentive compensation plan which is described below. Under the Option Plan, the Company is authorized to issue 1,260,000 shares of common stock pursuant to "awards" granted in the form of incentive stock options (intended to qualify under Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended) and non-qualified stock options not intended to qualify under Section 422. Awards may be granted to selected employees, directors, independent contractors, and consultants of the Company or any subsidiary. Stock options granted have contractual terms of 10 years. Unless otherwise specified in the terms of an award, all options vest on a schedule: 33% per year for 3 years, beginning on the second anniversary of the date of grant. Options granted under the Option Plan are at prices equal to the fair market value of the stock on the date of the grant, as determined by the Company's Board of Directors. To date, no stock options have been granted to independent contractors and consultants of the Company. To the extent that stock options were granted to these parties, the Company would recognize compensation expense equal to the difference between the fair market value of the stock options granted and the consideration given, if any, for such options.

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

The following table sets forth pertinent information regarding stock option transactions and stock option prices during the year ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	Number of Shares of Underlying Options	Price
<s></s>	<c></c>	
Outstanding as of December 31, 1996 Granted Forfeited.	 505,646 56,577	5.90
Outstanding as of December 31, 1997 Granted	449,069 396,090	14.38
Forfeited	78,375 	9.27
Outstanding as of December 31, 1998	766,784 ======	\$10.47 ======
Exercisable as of December 31, 1998		
Weighted average fair value of options granted		
during the year ended December 31, 1998		\$ 8.52
		======

</TABLE>

The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the minimum value method of option pricing based on the following weighted-average assumptions: dividend yield of 0%; risk-free interest rates ranging from 5.36% to 6.27%; and expected life of 5 years.

As of December 31, 1998, 373,624 and 393,160 options were outstanding with remaining weighted-average contract terms of 8.2 and 9.1 years, respectively, and a range of exercise prices from \$5.71 to \$6.55 and from \$13.00 to \$14.50, respectively.

Pro Forma Net Income and Earnings Per Share

Had the compensation cost for the Company's stock-based compensation plan been determined consistent with SFAS No. 123, the Company's net income and net income per share as of December 31, 1997 and 1998 would approximate the pro forma amounts below:

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

	As Rep	ported	Pro Form	ıa
			ds, excep amounts))t
<\$>	<c></c>		<c></c>	
Year Ended December 31, 1998 SFAS No. 123 charge Net income Diluted earnings per share	\$ 4,2 \$ 0.	 299 .69	\$259 4,040 \$0.65	
Year Ended December 31, 1997 SFAS No. 123 charge Net income Diluted earnings per share	\$ 1,4 \$ 0.		\$ 178 1,230 \$ 0.26	

</TABLE>

The effects of applying SFAS No. 123 in this pro forma disclosure are not indicative of future amounts.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

7. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

Initial Public Offering

In connection with the consummation of the Company's Offering on April 24, 1998, the Company sold 1.7 million shares of its common stock, par value \$0.01 per share. Additionally, on May 28, 1998, the Company sold additional 42,586 shares of its common stock pursuant to and in connection with the underwriters' over-allotment option. The Company received net proceeds of \$21.1 million from the sale of such shares, after deducting the underwriting discount and other offering expenses.

Additionally, in connection with the Offering, the Company effected a 4.2 for one stock split. All share data included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements and notes thereto are as if the stock split had occurred prior to the periods presented.

Employee Stock Purchases

In February 1996, the Company established a plan which allowed certain employees to purchase shares of common stock at fair market value on such date. An aggregate of 121,065 shares were purchased pursuant to this plan, at \$1.27 per share. No additional shares will be sold under this plan as it has been terminated. During the year ended December 31, 1997, the Company repurchased 18,375 shares of common stock at fair value from former employees.

Stock Awards to Employees

In September 1996, the Company awarded 464,848 shares of common stock to certain key employees. No cash consideration was paid for such shares. For the year ended December 31, 1996, the Company recognized compensation expense of \$898,000 representing the fair market value of these shares on the date awarded and \$960,000 of cash payments to a former employee in lieu of the issuance of such shares. In December 1997, the Company recognized compensation expense of \$263,000 relating to cash payments to a former employee in lieu of an award of shares of common stock. The tax effect of income tax deductions in excess of compensation expense under this plan is credited to additional paid-in capital.

Private Placement of Shares

In January 1997, the Company sold 234,990 shares of common stock at \$5.71 per share, representing the fair value at the date of sale. Proceeds to the Company, net of offering costs, amounted to \$1.2 million. In December 1997, the Company sold 362,208 shares of common stock at \$6.55 per share, representing the fair value at the date of sale, including 43,680 shares (for an aggregate of approximately \$286,000) to directors of the Company, and 52,920 shares (for an aggregate of approximately \$347,000) to officers and employees of the Company. Total proceeds to the Company amounted to approximately \$2.4 million.

42

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

Earnings Per Share

The following table summarizes the Company's computation of earnings per share for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 (in thousands, except per share amounts):

<TABLE> <CAPTION>

Years ended

	December 51,		
	1996	1997	1998
<s> Basic earnings per share</s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
busic culturings per share		÷ 0:25	======
Net income (numerator)	\$ 34 =====	\$1,408	\$4,299 ======
Weighted average shares outstanding (denominator) Computation of diluted earnings per share: Common shares issuable under outstanding stock	4,217	4,808	5 , 976
options Less shares assumed repurchased with proceeds from	449	449	767
exercise stock Options	(204)	(204)	(510)
Adjusted weighted average shares outstanding			
(denominator)		5,053	
Diluted earnings per share			

December 31.

</TABLE>

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company leases various office facilities under non-cancelable operating lease agreements. Rent expense amounted to \$150,000, \$575,000 and \$1,129,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

The Company leases apartments and housing facilities for certain employees, and also leases office facilities in foreign cities. The terms of these leases are less than one year.

As of December 31, 1998, future lease payments under non-cancelable leases with terms of more than one year are as follows:

<TABLE>

<\$>	<c></c>
1999	
2000	2,395
2001	,
2002	1,895
2003	1,711
Thereafter	749
	\$11 , 325

</TABLE>

The Company has employment agreements with certain officers and key members of management of the Company, the terms of which expire on December 31, 1999. The agreements provide for minimum salary levels, incentive bonuses at the discretion of the Company's Board of Directors, customary benefits including insurance coverage. In addition, the employment agreements further provide for severance pay ranging from six months to two year's base salary, bonus, and benefits, depending on the cause of termination and in the event of a change in corporate control.

From time to time, the Company is a party to routine litigation in the ordinary course of business. The Company does not believe that such litigation will have a material impact on the financial statements.

43

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

401(k) Plan

The Company sponsors a 401(k) profit sharing plan (the "401(k) Plan") which covers substantially all of its U.S. employees. Employees are eligible to participate after completing three months of service. The 401(k) Plan provides for elective contributions by employees up to the maximum limit allowed by the Internal Revenue Code. The Company currently matches 50% of the amount deferred by participants, on deferral amounts up to 7.5% of compensation. Although the Company has not made any profit sharing contributions, the 401(k) Plan permits the Company to make a discretionary profit sharing contribution which, if made, is allocated to the accounts of participants who have been credited with 1,000 hours of service during a plan year and who are employed on the last day of a plan year. The Company made matching contributions equal to \$0.50 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998 for each dollar contributed to the 401(k) Plan, subject to the limits noted above, by employees. These amounts have been included in general and administrative expenses on the statements of income. An employee is fully vested in the matching contributions after six years of employment, or earlier upon attainment of appropriate retirement age, upon retirement due to disability, or upon death. The Company made contributions to the 401(k) Plan aggregating approximately \$92,000, \$224,000 and \$385,000 during the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. Payment of benefits is generally made in the form of a single lump sum or in installments. The Company sponsors similar plans in Canada, Mexico, South Africa, Venezuela, and the United Kingdom, pursuant to which employees may defer specified percentages of compensation which the Company matches at a rate of 50-100% on the first 3-5% of compensation deferred. The Company made matching contributions of approximately \$334,000 in 1998.

Incentive Compensation and Profit Sharing Policies

The Company has implemented incentive compensation and profit sharing policies that cover substantially all salaried employees. Employees in positions at project manager or below, as well as administrative staff, are eligible for discretionary profit sharing payments. Each employee's profit sharing payment is based on a formula and is contingent upon his or her level of salary and length of service. Employees in positions at project manager or above are eligible for incentive compensation payments based on satisfaction of applicable performance criteria. The Company approved and recognized incentive compensation and profit sharing payments aggregating approximately \$1,258,000, \$1,994,000 and \$2,036,000 for the years ended December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively, which are included in general and administrative expense. The Company sponsors a profit sharing plan in the United Kingdom, pursuant to which 9% of net revenues are paid to employees on a partially taxdeferred basis. The Company made payments pursuant to this plan aggregating approximately \$420,000 in 1998.

44

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS--(Continued)

10. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

<TABLE> < CA PTTONS

/OT IT	+	-	U 1	~

	Years ended December 31,		
	1996	1997	1998
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>
Cash paid for interest and income taxes amounted to (in thousands):			
Interest	\$79	\$ 80	\$ 271
Income taxes	355	816	2,137
Non-cash activities were (in thousands):			
Stock contribution to the Company	\$(28)	\$	\$
Common stock issued for notes receivable	413	90	
Issuance of stock awards to key employees	898		
Deferred offering costs			(898)

Income tax benefit related to restricted stock plan..... -- -- (1,781) </TABLE>

11. GEOGRAPHIC FINANCIAL DATA

Revenues from the Company's United States operations were approximately \$14.8 million, \$26.8 million and \$48.0 million in 1998, respectively. Total assets of the United States segment were approximately \$4.1 million, \$14.4 million and \$12.0 million at December 31,1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. Revenues from the Company's Europe operations were \$5.8 million, \$7.9 million and \$19.1 million in 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively. Total assets of the Europe segment were \$2.3 million, \$2.4 million and \$6.3 million at December 31, 1996, 1997 and 1998, respectively.

<TABLE>

<CAPTION>

	Corporate	Americas	Europe, Middle East & Africa		Total	
		(in thousands)				
<s></s>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	<c></c>	
Year Ended December 31, 1998						
Revenues	\$	\$51 , 240	\$22,498	\$6,394	\$80,132	
Operating income (loss)	(276)(1)	4,319	2,843	204	7,090	
Total assets	25,199	13,884	7,641	2,179	48,903	
Capital expenditures	4,613	2,392	339	54	7,398	
Depreciation and amortization	127	777	178	56	1,138	
Year Ended December 31, 1997						
Revenues	\$	\$28,663	\$11,341	\$4,200	\$44,204	
Operating income (loss)	(238) (2)	2,245	209	223	2,439	
Total assets	3,317	12,167	3,230	1,421	20,135	
Capital expenditures	96	1,468	261	130	1,955	
Depreciation and						
amortization	116	195	121	21	453	
Year Ended December 31, 1996						
Revenues	\$	\$15 , 565	\$ 8,906	\$1,731	\$26,202	
Operating income (loss)	(2,132)(2)	1,276	626	310	80	
Total assets		4,798	3,016	735	8,549	
Capital expenditures		478	190	58	726	
Depreciation and						
amortization	274	38	73	10	395	

 Beginning in 1998, corporate expenses are allocated to the operating segments. As a result, the corporate division generates no net income or loss.

(2) Represents charges, for the year ended December 31, 1996, for stock awarded to employees, without cash consideration, and payments in lieu thereof, and, for the year ended December 31, 1997, for payments to an employee in lieu of a stock award.

45

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC.

A TEXAS CORPORATION

BYLAWS

ARTICLE 1

OFFICES

Section 1.1. Registered Office. The registered office of the Company within the State of Texas shall be located at either (i) the principal place of business of the Company in the State of Texas or (ii) the office of the corporation or individual acting as the Company's registered agent in Texas.

Section 1.2. The Company may, in addition to its registered office in the State of Texas, have such other offices and places of business, both within and without the State of Texas, as the Board of Directors of the Company (the "Board") may from time to time determine or as the business and affairs of the Company may require.

ARTICLE 2

SHAREHOLDER MEETINGS

Section 2.1. Annual Meetings. Annual meetings of shareholders shall be held at a place and time on any weekday which is not a holiday as shall be designated by the Board and stated in the notice of the meeting, at which the shareholders shall elect the directors of the Company and transact such other business as may properly be brought before the meeting.

Section 2.2. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the shareholders, for any purpose or purposes, unless otherwise prescribed by law or by the Articles of Incorporation, (i) may be called by the Chairman of the Board or the President and (ii) shall be called by the President or Secretary at the request in writing of a majority of the Board or shareholders owning capital stock of the Company representing at least fifty percent (50%) of the votes of all capital stock of the Company entitled to vote thereat. Such request of the Board or the shareholders shall state the purpose or purposes of the proposed meeting.

Section 2.3. Notices. Written or printed notice of each shareholders' meeting stating the place, date and hour of the meeting shall be given to each shareholder of record entitled to vote thereat by or at the direction of the President, the Secretary or the officer or person calling such meeting not less than ten (10) nor more than sixty (60) days before the date

of the meeting. If said notice is for a shareholders' meeting other than an annual meeting, it shall in addition state the purpose or purposes for which said meeting is called, and the business transacted at such meeting shall be limited to the matters so stated in said notice and any matters reasonably related thereto. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be delivered when deposited in the United States mail addressed to each shareholder at his address as it appears on the stock transfer books of the Company, with postage thereon prepaid.

Section 2.4. Quorum. The presence at a shareholders' meeting of the holders, present in person or represented by proxy, of capital stock of the Company representing a majority of the votes of all capital stock of the Company entitled to vote thereat shall constitute a quorum at such meeting for the transaction of business except as otherwise provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. If a quorum shall not be present or represented at any meeting of the shareholders, the holders of capital stock of the Company representing a majority of the votes of all capital stock of the Company entitled to vote thereat and present in person or represented by proxy shall have the power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum shall be present or represented. At any such reconvened meeting at which a quorum shall be present or represented, any business may be transacted which might have been transacted at the meeting as originally notified. If the adjournment is for more than thirty (30) days, or if after the adjournment a new record date is fixed for the reconvened meeting, a notice of said reconvened meeting shall be given to each shareholder entitled to vote at said meeting. The shareholders present at a duly convened meeting may continue to transact business until adjournment, notwithstanding the withdrawal of enough shareholders to leave less than a quorum.

Section 2.5. Voting of Shares.

2.5.1. Voting Lists. The officer or agent who has charge of the stock transfer books of the Company shall prepare, at least ten (10) days before every meeting of shareholders, a complete list of the shareholders entitled to vote thereat arranged in alphabetical order and showing the address and the number of shares registered in the name of each shareholder. Such list shall be open to the examination of any such shareholder, for any purpose germane to the meeting, during ordinary business hours for a period of at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting, either at a place within the city where the meeting is to be held, which place shall be specified in the notice of the meeting, or, if not so specified, at the place where the meeting is to be held and at the registered office of the Company. The list shall also be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be inspected by any shareholder who is present. The original stock transfer books shall be prima facie evidence as to who are the shareholders entitled to examine such list or transfer books or to vote at any meeting of shareholders. Failure to comply with the requirements of this Section shall not affect the validity of any action taken at said meeting.

2.5.2. Votes Per Share. Unless otherwise provided by law or in the Articles of Incorporation, each shareholder shall be entitled to one vote, in person or by proxy, on

-2-

each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of the shareholders, for each share of capital stock held by such shareholder.

2.5.3. Proxies. Every shareholder entitled to vote at a meeting or to express consent or dissent without a meeting or a shareholder's duly authorized attorney-in-fact may authorize another person or persons to act for him by proxy. Each proxy shall be in writing, executed by the shareholder group, the proxy or by his duly authorized attorney. No proxy shall be voted on or after eleven (11) months from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. Each proxy shall be revocable unless expressly provided therein to be irrevocable and unless otherwise made irrevocable by law.

2.5.4. Required Vote. When a quorum is present at any meeting, the vote of the holders of capital stock of the Company representing a majority of the votes of all capital stock of the Company entitled to vote thereat and present in person or represented by proxy shall decide any question brought before such meeting, unless the question is one upon which, by express provision of law or the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a different vote is required, in which case such express provision shall govern and control the decision of such question.

2.5.5. Consents in Lieu of Meeting. Any action required to be or which may be taken at any meeting of shareholders may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holder or holders of shares having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to take such action at a meeting at which the holders of all shares entitled to vote on the action were present and voted. Such signed consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote of shareholders and shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the shareholders.

ARTICLE 3

DIRECTORS

Section 3.1. Purpose. The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board, which may exercise all such powers of the Company and do all such lawful acts and things as are not by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws directed or required to be exercised or done by the shareholders. Directors need not be shareholders or residents of the State of Texas.

Section 3.2. Number. The number of directors constituting the Board shall never be less than one (1) and shall be determined by resolution of the Board, except for the number of directors constituting the initial Board, which number is fixed by the Articles of Incorporation.

-3-

Section 3.3. Election. Directors shall be elected by the shareholders by plurality vote at each annual meeting of shareholders, except as hereinafter provided, and each director so elected shall hold office until his successor has been duly elected and qualified.

Section 3.4. Vacancies and Newly-Created Directorships.

3.4.1. Vacancies. Any vacancy occurring in the Board may be filled in accordance with subsection 3.4.3 or may be filled by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors though less than a quorum of the Board. A director elected to fill a vacancy shall be elected for the unexpired term of his predecessor in office.

3.4.2. Newly-Created Directorships. A directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors may be filled in accordance with subsection 3.4.3 or may be filled by the Board for a term of office continuing only until the next election of one or more directors by the shareholders; provided that the Board may not fill more than two such directorships during the period between any two successive annual meetings of shareholders.

3.4.3. Election by Shareholders. Any vacancy occurring in the Board or any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors may be filled by election at an annual or special meeting of shareholders called for that purpose.

Section 3.5. Removal. Any director or the entire Board of Directors may be removed, but only for cause, by the holders of a majority of the shares then entitled to vote at an election of directors.

Section 3.6. Compensation. Unless otherwise restricted by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, the Board shall have the authority to fix the compensation of directors. The directors may be reimbursed for their expenses, if any, of attendance at each meeting of the Board and may be paid either a fixed sum for attendance at each meeting of the Board or a stated salary as director. No such payment shall preclude any director from serving the Company in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefor. Members of committees of the Board may be allowed like compensation for attending committee meetings.

ARTICLE 4

BOARD MEETINGS

Section 4.1. Annual Meetings. The Board shall meet as soon as practicable after the adjournment of each annual shareholders' meeting at the place of such shareholders' meeting. No notice to the directors shall be necessary to legally convene this meeting, provided a quorum is present.

-4-

Section 4.2 Regular Meetings. Regularly scheduled, periodic meetings of the Board may be held without notice at such times and places as shall from time to time be determined by resolution of the Board and communicated to all directors.

Section 4.3. Special Meetings. Special meetings of the Board (i) may be called by the Chairman of the Board or President and (ii) shall be called by the President or Secretary on the written request of two directors or the sole director, as the case may be. Notice of each special meeting of the Board shall be given, either personally or as hereinafter provided, to each director at least (i) twenty-four (24) hours before the meeting if such notice is delivered personally or by means of telephone, telegram, telex or facsimile transmission delivery; (ii) two days before the meeting if such notice is delivered by a recognized express delivery service; and (iii) three days before the meeting if such notice is delivered through the United States mail. Any and all business may be transacted at a special meeting which may be transacted at a regular meeting of the Board. Except as may be otherwise expressly provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any special meeting need be specified in the notice or waiver of notice of such meeting.

Section 4.4. Quorum, Required Vote. A majority of the directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at any meeting of the Board, and the act of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which there is a quorum shall be the act of the Board, except as may be otherwise specifically provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. If a quorum shall not be present at any meeting, a majority of the directors present may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present.

Section 4.5. Consent In Lieu of Meeting. Unless otherwise restricted by the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the Board or any committee thereof may be taken without a meeting, if a consent in writing, setting forth the action so taken, is signed by all the members of the Board or committee, as the case may be. Such signed consent shall have the same force and effect as a unanimous vote at a meeting and shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of the Board or committee.

ARTICLE 5

COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

Section 5.1. Establishment; Standing Committees. The Board may by resolution establish, name or dissolve one or more committees, each committee to consist of one or more of the directors. Each committee, to the extent provided in such resolution, shall have and may exercise all of the authority of the Board of Directors, except that no such committee shall have the authority of the Board of Directors in reference to amending the Articles of Incorporation, approving a merger or consolidation, recommending to the shareholders the sale, lease or

-5-

exchange of all or substantially all of the property and assets of the corporation otherwise than in the usual and regular course of business, recommending to the shareholders a voluntary dissolution of the corporation or a revocation thereof, amending, altering, or repealing the bylaws of the corporation or adopting new bylaws for the corporation, filling vacancies in the Board or any such committee, filling any directorship to be filled by reason of an increase in the number of directors, electing or removing officers or members of any such committee, fixing the compensation of any member of such committee or altering or repealing any resolution of the Board which by its term provides that it shall not be so amendable or repealable, and, unless such resolution expressly so provides, no such committee shall have the power or authority to declare a dividend or to authorize the issuance of shares of the corporation. Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the Board when required.

5.1.1. Audit Committee. The Audit Committee shall, from time to time and to the extent it exists, but no less than two times per year, meet to review and monitor the financial and cost accounting practices and procedures of the Company, review the qualifications of the Company's independent auditors, make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the selection of independent auditors, review the scope, fees and results of any audit, review non-audit services and related fees provided by the independent auditors, and to report its findings and recommendations to the Board for final action. The Audit Committee shall not be empowered to approve any corporate action, of whatever kind or nature, and the recommendations of the Audit Committee shall not be binding on the Board, except when, pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.2 of these Bylaws, such power and authority have been specifically delegated to such committee by the Board by resolution. In addition to the foregoing, the specific duties of the Audit Committee shall be determined by the Board by resolution.

5.1.2. Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee shall, from time to time and to the extent it exists, meet to review the various compensation plans, policies and practices of the Company, and to report its findings and recommendations to the Board for final action. The Compensation Committee shall be responsible for the administration of all salary for the executive officers of the Company, including bonuses, and the administration of the Company's compensation programs, including the grant of options under the Company's 1997 Stock Option Plan. The Compensation Committee shall not be empowered to approve any other corporate action, of whatever kind or nature, and any recommendations of the Compensation Committee shall not be binding on the Board, except when, pursuant to the provisions of Section 5.2 of these Bylaws, such power and authority have been specifically delegated to such committee by the Board by resolution. In addition to the foregoing, the specific duties of the Compensation Committee shall be determined by the Board by resolution.

Section 5.2. Available Powers. Any committee established pursuant to Section 5.1 of these Bylaws, including the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee, but only to the extent provided in the resolution of the Board establishing such committee or otherwise delegating specific power and authority to such committee and as limited by law, the Articles of Incorporation and these Bylaws, shall have and may exercise all the powers and authority of the

-6-

Board in the management of the business and affairs of the Company, and may authorize the seal of the Company to be affixed to all papers which may require it.

Section 5.3. Alternate Members. The Board may designate one or more directors as alternate members of any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of such committee.

Section 5.4. Procedures. Time, place and notice, if any, of meetings of a committee shall be determined by the members of such committee. At meetings of a committee, a majority of the number of members designated by the Board shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the committee, except as otherwise specifically provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws. If a quorum is not present at a meeting of a committee, the members present may adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other than an announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present.

ARTICLE 6

OFFICERS

Section 6.1. Elected Officers. The Board shall elect a President and Secretary (collectively, the "Required Officers") having the respective duties enumerated below and may elect such other officers having the titles and duties set forth below which are not reserved for the Required Officers or such other titles and duties as the Board may by resolution from time to time establish: 6.1.1. Chairman of the Board. The Chairman of the Board, or in his absence, the President, shall preside when present at all meetings of the shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of the Board shall advise and counsel the President and other officers and shall exercise such powers and perform such duties as shall be assigned to or required of him from time to time by the Board or these Bylaws. The Chairman of the Board may execute bonds, mortgages and other contracts requiring a seal under the seal of the Company, except where required by law to be otherwise signed and executed and except where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the Board to some other officer or agent of the Company. The Chairman of the Board may delegate all or any of his powers or duties to the President, if and to the extent deemed by the Chairman of the Board to be desirable or appropriate.

6.1.2. President. The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, unless the Board of Directors designates the Chairman of the Board as Chief Executive Officer, and shall have general and active management of the business and affairs of the Company and shall see that all orders and resolutions of the Board are carried into effect. The President may agree upon and execute all leases, contracts, evidences of indebtedness, and

-7-

other obligations in the name of the corporation and may sign all certificates for shares of capital stock of the corporation; and shall have such other powers and duties as designated in accordance with these Bylaws and as from time to time may be assigned to him by the Board of Directors. In the absence of the Chairman of the Board or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, the President shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the Chairman of the Board.

6.1.3. Chief Operating Officer. The chief operating officer shall have supervision of the operation of the corporation, subject to the policies and directions of the Board. He shall provide for the proper operation of the corporation and oversee the internal interrelationship amongst any and all departments of the corporation. He shall submit to the chief executive officer and the board of directors timely reports on the operations of the corporation.

6.1.4. Chief Financial Officer. The chief financial officer shall be the chief accounting officer of the corporation and shall arrange for the keeping of adequate records of all assets, liabilities and transactions of the corporation. He shall provide for the establishment of internal controls and see that adequate audits are currently and regularly made. He shall submit to the chief executive officer and the board timely statements of the accounts of the corporation and the financial results of the operations thereof.

6.1.5. Vice Presidents. In the absence of the President or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, the Vice President (or in the event there be more than one Vice President, the Vice Presidents in the order designated by the Board, or in the absence of any designation, then in the order of their election or appointment) shall perform the duties of the President, and when so acting, shall have all the powers of and be subject to all the restrictions upon the President. The Vice Presidents shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board may from time to time prescribe.

6.1.6. Secretary. The Secretary shall attend all meetings of the shareholders, the Board and (as required) committees of the Board and shall record all the proceedings of such meetings in minute books to be kept for that purpose. He shall give, or cause to be given, notice of all meetings of the shareholders and special meetings of the Board and shall perform such other duties as may be prescribed by the Board or the President. He shall have custody of the corporate seal of the Company and he, or an Assistant Secretary, shall have authority to affix the same to any instrument requiring it, and when so affixed, it may be attested by his signature or by the signature of such Assistant Secretary. The Board may give general authority to any other officer to affix the seal of the Company and to attest the affixing thereof by his signature.

6.1.7. Assistant Secretaries. The Assistant Secretary, or if there be more than one, the Assistant Secretaries in the order determined by the Board (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election or appointment) shall, in the absence of the Secretary or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the

-8-

powers of the Secretary and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board may from time to time prescribe.

6.1.8. Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have the custody of the corporate funds and securities, shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and disbursements in books belonging to the Company and shall deposit all moneys and other valuable effects in the name and to the credit of the Company in such depositories as may be designated by the Board. He shall disburse the funds of the Company as may be ordered by the Board, taking proper vouchers for such disbursements, and shall render to the President and the Board, at its regular meetings, or when the Board so requires, an account of all his transactions as treasurer and of the financial condition of the Company. He may, when necessary or proper, endorse on behalf of the corporation for collection checks, notes and other obligations and shall deposit the same to the credit of the corporation in such banks or depositories as shall be designated in the manner prescribed by the Board of Directors, and he may sign all receipts and vouchers for payments made to the corporation, either along or jointly with such other officer as is designated by the Board of Directors.

6.1.9. Assistant Treasurers. The Assistant Treasurer, or if there shall be more than one, the Assistant Treasurers in the order determined by the Board (or if there be no such determination, then in the order of their election or appointment) shall, in the absence of the treasurer or in the event of his inability or refusal to act, perform the duties and exercise the powers of the treasurer and shall perform such other duties and have such other powers as the Board may from time to time prescribe.

6.1.10. Divisional Officers. Each division of the Company, if any, may have a President, Secretary, Treasurer or Controller and one or more Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretaries, Assistant Treasurers and other assistant officers. Any number of such offices may be held by the same person. Such divisional officers will be appointed by, report to and serve at the pleasure of the Board and such other officers that the Board may place in authority over them. The officers of each division shall have such authority with respect to the business and affairs of that division as may be granted from time to time by the Board, and in the regular course of business of such division may sign contracts and other documents in the name of the division where so authorized; provided that in no case and under no circumstances shall an officer of one division have authority to bind any other division of the Company except as necessary in the pursuit of the normal and usual business of the division of which he is an officer.

Section 6.2. Election. All elected officers shall serve until their successors are duly elected and qualified or until their earlier death, disqualification, retirement, resignation or removal from office.

Section 6.3. Appointed Officers. The Board may also appoint or delegate the power to appoint such other officers, assistant officers and agents, and may also remove such officers and agents or delegate the power to remove same, as it shall from time to time deem

-9-

necessary, and the titles and duties of such appointed officers may be as described in Section 6.1 for elected officers; provided that the officers and any officer possessing authority over or responsibility for any functions of the Board shall be elected officers.

Section 6.4. Multiple Officeholders, Shareholder and Director Officers. Any number of offices may be held by the same person, unless the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws otherwise provide. Officers need not be shareholders or residents of the State of Texas. Officers, such as the Chairman of the Board, possessing authority over or responsibility for any function of the Board must be directors.

Section 6.5. Compensation, Vacancies. The compensation of elected officers shall be set by the Board. The Board shall also fill any vacancy in an elected office. The compensation of appointed officers and the filling of vacancies in appointed offices may be delegated by the Board to the same extent as permitted by these Bylaws for the initial filling of such offices.

Section 6.6. Additional Powers and Duties. In addition to the foregoing especially enumerated powers and duties, the several elected and appointed officers of the Company shall perform such other duties and exercise

such further powers as may be provided by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws or as the Board may from time to time determine or as may be assigned to them by any competent committee or superior officer.

Section 6.7. Removal. Any officer or agent or member of a committee elected or appointed by the Board may be removed by the Board whenever in its judgment the best interest of the Company will be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed. Election or appointment of an officer or agent or member of a committee shall not of itself create contract rights.

ARTICLE 7

SHARE CERTIFICATES

Section 7.1. Entitlement to Certificates. Every holder of the capital stock of the Company, unless and to the extent the Board by resolution provides that any or all classes or series of stock shall be uncertificated, shall be entitled to have a certificate, in such form as is approved by the Board and conforms with applicable law, certifying the number of shares owned by him. Each certificate representing shares shall state upon the face thereof:

(1) that the corporation is organized under the laws of the State of Texas;

(2) the name of the person to whom issued;

-10-

- (3) the number and class of shares and the designation of the series, if any, which such certificate represents; and
- (4) the par value of each share represented by such certificate, or a statement that the shares are without par value.

Section 7.2. Multiple Classes of Stock; Preemptive Rights. In the event the Company shall be authorized to issue shares of more than one class, each certificate representing shares issued by the Company (1) shall conspicuously set forth on the face or back of the certificate a full statement of (a) all of the designations, preferences, limitations and relative rights of the shares of each class authorized to be issued and, (b) if the Company is authorized to issue shares of any preferred or special class in series, the variations in the relative rights and preferences of the shares of each such series to the extent they have been fixed and determined and the authority of the Board to fix and determine the relative rights and preferences of subsequent series; or (2) shall conspicuously state on the face or back of the certificate that (a) such a statement is set forth in the Articles of Incorporation on file in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Texas and (b) the Company will furnish a copy of such statement to the record holder of the certificate without charge on written request to the Company at its principal place of business or registered office. In the event the Company has by its Articles of Incorporation limited or denied the preemptive right of shareholders to acquire unissued or treasury shares of the Company, each certificate representing shares issued by the Company (1) shall conspicuously set forth on the face or back of the certificate a full statement of the limitation or denial of preemptive rights contained in the Articles of Incorporation, or (2) shall conspicuously state on the face or back of the certificate that (a) such a statement is set forth in the Articles of Incorporation on file in the office of the Secretary of State of the State of Texas and (b) the Company will furnish a copy of such statement to the record holder of the certificate without charge on request to the Company at its principal place of business or registered office.

Section 7.3. Signatures. Each certificate representing capital stock of the Company shall be signed by or in the name of the Company by (1) the Chairman of the Board, the President or a Vice President; and (2) the Treasurer, an Assistant Treasurer, the Secretary or an Assistant Secretary of the Company. The signatures of the officers of the Company may be facsimiles. In case any officer who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to hold such office before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Company with the same effect as if he held such office on the date of issue.

Section 7.4. Issuance and Payment. Subject to any provision of the Constitution of the State of Texas to the contrary, the Board may authorize shares to be issued for consideration consisting of any tangible or intangible benefit to the Company, including, cash, promissory notes, services performed, contracts for services to be performed, or other securities of the Company. Shares may not be issued until the full amount of the consideration, fixed as provided by law, has been paid. When such consideration shall have been paid to the Company or to a corporation of which all the outstanding shares of each class are owned by the Company,

-11-

the shares shall be deemed to have been issued and the subscriber or shareholder entitled to receive such issue shall be a shareholder with respect to such shares, and the shares shall be considered fully paid and non-assessable. In the absence of fraud in the transaction, the judgment of the Board or the shareholders, as the case may be, as to the value of the consideration received for shares shall be conclusive.

Section 7.5. Lost Certificates. The Board may direct a new certificate or certificates to be issued in place of any certificate or certificates theretofore issued by the Company alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed upon the making of an affidavit of that fact by the person claiming the certificate of stock to be lost, stolen or destroyed. When authorizing such issue of a new certificate or certificates, the Board may, in its discretion and as a condition precedent to the issuance thereof, require the owner of such lost, stolen or destroyed certificate or certificates, or his legal representative, to advertise the same in such manner as it shall require and/or

to give the Company a bond in such sum as it may direct as indemnity against any claim that may be made against the Company with respect to the certificate alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

Section 7.6. Transfer of Stock. Upon surrender to the Company or its transfer agent, if any, of a certificate for shares duly endorsed or accompanied by proper evidence of succession, assignation or authority to transfer and of the payment of all taxes applicable to the transfer of said shares, the Company shall be obligated to issue a new certificate to the person entitled thereto, cancel the old certificate and record the transaction upon its books; provided, however, that the Company shall not be so obligated unless such transfer was made in compliance with applicable state and federal securities laws.

Section 7.7. Registered Shareholders. The Company shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive dividends, vote and be held liable for calls and assessments and shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of any person other than such registered owner, whether or not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by law.

ARTICLE 8

INDEMNIFICATION

Section 8.1. Definitions. For purposes of this Article VIII:

(1) "Corporation" includes any domestic or foreign predecessor entity of the Company in a merger, consolidation, or other transaction in which the liabilities of the predecessor are transferred to the Company by operation of law and in any other transaction in which the

-12-

Company assumes the liabilities of the predecessor but does not specifically exclude liabilities that are the subject matter of this article;

- (2) "Director" means any person who is or was a director of the Company and any person who, while a director of the Company, is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee, agent, or similar functionary of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise;
- (3) "Expenses" include, without limitation, court costs and attorneys' fees;
- (4) "Official capacity" means

(i) when used with respect to a Director, the office of Director of the Company, but does not include service for any other foreign or domestic corporation or any partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise;

(ii) when used with respect to a person other than a Director, the elective or appointive office in the Company held by the officer or the employment or agency relationship undertaken by the employee or agent on behalf of the Company, but does not include service for any other foreign or domestic corporation or any partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise; and

(5) "Proceeding" means any threatened, pending, or completed action, suit, or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative, arbitrative, or investigative, any appeal in such an action, suit, or proceeding, and any inquiry or investigation that could lead to such an action, suit, or proceeding.

Section 8.2. Mandatory Indemnification. The Company shall indemnify a person who was, is, or is threatened to be made a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding because the person is or was a Director only if it is determined in accordance with Section 8.6 of this Article 8 that the person:

(a) conducted himself in good faith;

(b) reasonably believed:

(i) in the case of conduct in his official capacity as a Director of the Company, that his conduct was in the Company's best interests; and

(ii) in all other cases, that his conduct was at least not opposed to the Company's best interests; and

-13-

(c) in the case of any criminal proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe his conduct was unlawful.

In the event it is determined in accordance with Section 8.6 of this Article 8 that a person has met the applicable standard of conduct as to some matters but not as to others, amounts to be indemnified may be reasonably prorated.

Section 8.3. Prohibited Indemnification. Except to the extent permitted by Section 8.5 of this Article 8, a Director may not be indemnified under Section 8.2 of this Article 8 in respect of a proceeding:

(a) in which the person is found liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by him, whether or not the benefit resulted from an action taken in the person's official capacity; or (b) in which the person is found liable to the Company.

Section 8.4. Termination of Proceedings. The termination of a proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, or conviction, or on a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent is not of itself determinative that the person did not meet the requirements set forth in Section 8.2 of this Article 8. A person shall be deemed to have been found liable in respect of any claim, issue or matter only after the person shall have been so adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction after exhaustion of all appeals therefrom.

Section 8.5. Judgments, Expenses, etc. A person may be indemnified under Section 8.2 of this Article 8 against judgments, penalties (including excise and similar taxes), fines, settlements, and reasonable expenses actually incurred by the person in connection with the proceeding; but if the person is found liable to the Company or is found liable on the basis that personal benefit was improperly received by the person, the indemnification (1) is limited to reasonable expenses actually incurred by the person in connection with the proceeding and (2) shall not be made in respect of any proceeding in which the person shall have been found liable for willful or intentional misconduct in the performance of his duty to the Company.

Section 8.6. Determination of Indemnification. A determination of indemnification under Section 8.2 of this Article 8 must be made:

(a) by a majority vote of a quorum consisting of directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding;

(b) if such a quorum cannot be obtained, by a majority vote of a committee of the Board, designated to act in the matter by a majority vote of all directors, consisting solely of two or more directors who at the time of the vote are not named defendants or respondents in the proceeding;

-14-

(c) by special legal counsel selected by the Board or a committee thereof by vote as set forth in subsection (1) or (2) of this Section 8.6, or, if such a quorum cannot be obtained and such a committee cannot be established, by a majority vote of all Directors; or

(d) by the shareholders of the Company in a vote that excludes the shares held by Directors who are named defendants or respondents in the proceeding.

Section 8.7. Determination of Reasonableness of Expenses. Determination as to reasonableness of expenses must be made in the same manner as the determination that indemnification is permissible, except that if the determination that indemnification is permissible is made by special legal counsel, determination as to reasonableness of expenses must be made in the manner specified by subsection (c) of Section 8.6 of this Article 8 for the selection of special legal counsel.

Section 8.8. Indemnification Against Reasonable Expenses. The Company shall indemnify a Director against reasonable expenses incurred by him in connection with a proceeding in which he is a named defendant or respondent because he is or was a Director if he has been wholly successful, on the merits or otherwise, in the defense of the proceeding.

Section 8.9. Payments in Advance of Disposition. Reasonable expenses incurred by a Director who was, is, or is threatened to be made a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding shall be paid or reimbursed by the Company, in advance of the final disposition of the proceeding and without any of the determinations specified in Sections 8.6 and 8.7 of this Article 8, after the Company receives a written affirmation by the Director of his good faith belief that he has met the standard of conduct necessary for indemnification under this Article 8 and a written undertaking by or on behalf of the Director to repay the amount paid or reimbursed if it is ultimately determined that he has not met those requirements.

Section 8.10. Written Undertaking. The written undertaking required by Section 8.9 of this Article 8 must be an unlimited general obligation of the Director but need not be secured. It may be accepted without reference to financial ability to make repayment.

Section 8.11. Consistency with Articles of Incorporation. Any provision for the Company to indemnify or to advance expenses to a Director who was, is, or is threatened to be made a named defendant or respondent in a proceeding, whether contained in the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, a resolution of shareholders or Directors, an agreement, or otherwise, except in accordance with Section 8.16 of this Article 8, is valid only to the extent it is consistent with this Article 8 as limited by the Articles of Incorporation, if such a limitation exists.

-15-

Section 8.12. Other Expenses. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Article 8, the Company may pay or reimburse expenses incurred by a Director in connection with his appearance as a witness or other participation in a proceeding at a time when he is not a named defendant or respondent in the proceeding.

Section 8.13. Officers, Employees and Agents. An officer, employee or agent of the Company shall be indemnified as, and to the same extent, provided by Section 8.8 of this Article 8 for a Director and is entitled to seek indemnification under such Section to the same extent as a Director. The Company shall advance expenses to an officer and may advance expenses to an employee or agent of the Company to the same extent that it shall advance expenses to Directors under this Article 8. Section 8.14. Other Capacities. A corporation may indemnify and advance expenses to persons who are not or were not officers, employees, or agents of the Company, but who are or were serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee, agent, or similar functionary of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise to the same extent that it shall indemnify and advance expenses to Directors under this Article 8.

Section 8.15. Further Indemnification. The Company may indemnify and advance expenses to an officer, employee, agent, or person identified in Section 8.14 of this Article 8 and who is not a Director to such further extent, consistent with law, as may be provided by the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, general or specific action of the Board, or contract or as permitted or required by common law.

Section 8.16. Continuation of Indemnification. The indemnification and advance payment provided by this Article 8 shall continue as to a person who has ceased to hold his position as a director, officer, employee or agent, or other person described in Article 8, Section 8.14, and shall inure to his heirs, executors and administrators.

Section 8.17. Insurance. The Company may purchase and maintain insurance or another arrangement on behalf of any person who is or was a Director, officer, employee, or agent of the Company or who is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee, agent, or similar functionary of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan, or other enterprise, against any liability asserted against him and incurred by him in such a capacity or arising out of his status as such a person, whether or not the Company would have the power to indemnify him against that liability under this Article 8. If the insurance or other arrangement is with a person or entity that is not regularly engaged in the business of providing insurance coverage, the insurance or arrangement may provide for payment of a liability with respect to which the Company would not have the power to indemnify the person only if including coverage for the additional liability has been approved by the shareholders of

-16-

the Company. Without limiting the power of the Company to procure or maintain any kind of insurance or other arrangement, the Company may, for the benefit of persons indemnified by the Company, (1) create a trust fund; (2) establish any form of self-insurance; (3) secure its indemnity obligation by grant of a security interest or other lien on the assets of the Company; or (4) establish a letter of credit, guaranty, or surety arrangement. The insurance or other arrangement may be procured, maintained, or established within the Company or with any insurer or other person deemed appropriate by the Board regardless of whether all or part of the stock or other securities of the insurer or other person are owned in whole or part by the Company. In the absence of fraud, the judgment of the Board as to the terms and conditions of the insurance or other arrangement and the identity of the insurer or other person participating in an arrangement shall be conclusive and the insurance or arrangement shall not be voidable and shall not subject the Directors approving the insurance or arrangement to liability, on any ground, regardless of whether Directors participating in the approval are beneficiaries of the insurance or arrangement.

Section 8.18. Report To Shareholders. Any indemnification of or advance of expenses to a Director in accordance with this Article 8 shall be reported in writing to the shareholders with or before the notice or waiver of notice of the next shareholders' meeting or with or before the next submission to shareholders of a consent to action without a meeting pursuant to Section A, Article 9.10, of the Texas Business Corporation Act and, in any case, within the 12-month period immediately following the date of the indemnification or advance.

Section 8.19. Employee Benefit Plans. For purposes of this Article 8, the Company is deemed to have requested a Director to serve in capacity in connection with an employee benefit plan whenever the performance by him of his duties to the Company also imposes duties on or otherwise involves services by him to the plan or participants or beneficiaries of the plan. Excise taxes assessed on a Director with respect to an employee benefit plan pursuant to applicable law are deemed fines. Action taken or omitted by him with respect to an employee benefit plan in the performance of his duties for a purpose reasonably believed by him to be in the interest of the participants and beneficiaries of the plan is deemed to be for a purpose which is not opposed to the best interests of the Company.

Section 8.20. Change in Governing Law. In the event of any amendment or addition to Article 2.02-1 of the Texas Business Corporation Act or the addition of any other section to such law which shall limit indemnification rights thereunder, the Company shall, to the extent permitted by the Texas Business Corporation Act, indemnify to the fullest extent authorized or permitted hereunder, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (including an action by or in the right of the Company), by reason of the fact that he is or was a Director, officer, employee or agent of the Company or is or was serving at the request of the Company as a director, officer, partner, venturer, proprietor, trustee, employee, agent, or similar functionary of another foreign or domestic corporation, partnership, joint venture, sole proprietorship, trust, employee benefit plan or other enterprise,

-17-

against all judgments, penalties (including excise and similar taxes), fines, settlements and reasonable expenses (including attorneys' fees and court costs) actually and reasonably incurred by him in connection with such action, suit or proceeding. Section 8.21. Construction. The indemnification provided by this Article shall be subject to all valid and applicable laws, including, without limitation, Article 2.02-1 of the Texas Business Corporation Act, and, in the event this Article or any of the provisions hereof or the indemnification contemplated hereby are found to be inconsistent with or contrary to any such valid laws, the latter shall be deemed to control and this Article 8 shall be regarded as modified accordingly, and, as so modified, to continue in full force and effect.

Section 8.22. Contract Right. The foregoing indemnification and advancement of expenses provisions shall be deemed to be a contract between the corporation and each director and officer who serves in any such capacity at any time while these provisions, as well as the relevant provisions of the Texas Business Corporation Act, are in effect, and any repeal or modification thereof shall not affect any right or obligation then existing with respect to any state of facts then or previously existing or any action, suit, or proceeding previously or thereafter brought or threatened based in whole or in part upon any such state of facts. Such a "contract right" may not be modified retroactively without consent of such director, officer, employee or agent. Notwithstanding this provision and subject to applicable provisions of the Texas Business Corporation Act, the corporation may enter into additional contracts of indemnity with these persons to provide rights provided in these bylaws, or to otherwise modify, amend, increase or decrease these rights, as the Board of Directors may see fit.

Section 8.23. Effect of Amendment. No amendment, modification or repeal of this Article 8 or any provision hereof shall in any manner terminate, reduce or impair the right of any past, present or future persons to be indemnified by the corporation, nor the obligation of the corporation to indemnify any such persons, under and in accordance with the provisions of this Article as in effect immediately prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, with respect to claims arising from or relating to matters occurring, in whole or in part, prior to such amendment, modification or repeal, regardless of when such claims may arise or be asserted.

ARTICLE 9

INTERESTED DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND SHAREHOLDERS

Section 9.1. Validity; Disclosure; Approval. No contract or transaction between the Company and one or more of its directors or officers, or between the Company and any other corporation, partnership, association, or other organization in which one or more of its directors or officers are directors or officers or have a financial interest, shall be void or voidable solely because the director or officer is present at or participates in the meeting of the Board or committee thereof which authorizes the contract or transaction, or solely because his or their votes are counted for such purpose, if:

(1) the material facts as to his relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the Board or the committee, and the Board or committee in good faith authorizes the contract or transaction by the affirmative vote of a majority of the disinterested directors, even though the disinterested directors be less than a quorum; or

(2) the material facts as to his relationship or interest and as to the contract or transaction are disclosed or are known to the shareholders entitled to vote thereon, and the contract or transaction is specifically approved in good faith by vote of the shareholders; or

(3) the contract or transaction is fair as to the Company as of the time it is authorized, approved, or ratified by the Board, a committee thereof, or the shareholders.

Section 9.2. Quorum. Common or interested directors may be counted in determining the presence of a quorum at a meeting of the Board or of a committee which authorizes the contract or transaction.

Section 9.3. Nonexclusive. This Article 9 shall not be construed to invalidate any contract or transaction which would be valid in the absence of this Article 9.

ARTICLE 10

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 10.1. Place of Meetings. All shareholders, directors and committee meetings shall be held at such place or places, within or without the State of Texas, as shall be designated from time to time by the Board or such committee and stated in the notices thereof. If no such place is so designated, said meetings shall be held at the principal business office of the Company.

Section 10.2. Fixing Record Dates.

(a) In order that the Company may determine the shareholders entitled to notice of or to vote at any meeting of shareholders or any adjournment thereof, to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any rights, to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock or to effect any other lawful action, or to make a determination of shareholders for any other proper purpose (other than determining shareholders entitled to consent to action by shareholders proposed to be taken without a meeting of shareholders), the Board may fix, in advance, a record date for any such determination of shareholders, which shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days prior to the date on which the particular action requiring such determination of shareholders is to be taken. In the absence of any action by the Board, the date on which a notice of meeting is given, or the date the Board adopts the resolution declaring a dividend or other distribution or allotment or approving any change, conversion or exchange, as the case may be, shall be the record date. A record date validly fixed for any meeting of shareholders and the determination of shareholders entitled to vote at such meeting shall be valid for any adjournment of said meeting except where such determination has been made through the closing of stock transfer books and the stated period of closing has expired.

(b) In order that the Company may determine the stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, the Board may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board, and which date shall not be more than ten (10) days after the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the Board. If no record date has been fixed by the Board, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting, when no prior action by the Board is otherwise required, shall be the first date on which a signed written consent setting forth the action taken or proposed to be taken is delivered to the Company by delivery to its registered office in the State of Texas, its principal place of business, or an officer or agent of the Company having custody of the book in which proceedings of meetings of stockholders are recorded. Delivery made to the Company's registered office shall be by hand or by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested. If no record date has been fixed by the Board and prior action by the Board is required, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to consent to corporate action in writing without a meeting shall be at the close of business on the day on which the Board adopts the resolution taking such prior action.

Section 10.3. Notice and Waiver of Notice. Whenever any notice is required to be given under law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, a written waiver of such notice, signed before or after the date of such meeting by the person or persons entitled to said notice, shall be deemed equivalent to such required notice. All such waivers shall be filed with the corporate records. Attendance at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except where a person attends for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Whenever any notice is required to be given under law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, said notice shall be deemed to be sufficient if given by depositing the same in a post office box in a sealed prepaid envelope addressed to the person entitled thereto at his post office address as it appears on the books of the Company and such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the day of such mailing.

Section 10.4. Attendance via Communications Equipment. Unless otherwise restricted by law, the Articles of Incorporation or these Bylaws, members of the Board, members of any committee thereof or the shareholders may hold a meeting by means of conference

-20-

telephone or other communications equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can effectively communicate with each other. Such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in person at the meeting, except where a person participates in the meeting for the express purpose of objecting to the transaction of any business on the ground that the meeting is not lawfully called or convened.

Section 10.5. Dividends. Dividends on the capital stock of the Company, paid in cash, property, or securities of the Company, or any combination thereof, and as may be limited by applicable law and applicable provisions of the Articles of Incorporation (if any), may be declared by the Board at any regular or special meeting.

Section 10.6. Reserves. Before payment of any dividend, there may be set aside out of any funds of the Company available for dividends such sum or sums as the Board from time to time, in its absolute discretion, thinks proper as a reserve or reserves to meet contingencies, for equalizing dividends, for repairing or maintaining any property of the Company, or for such other purpose as the Board shall determine to be in the best interest of the Company; and the Board may modify or abolish any such reserve in the manner in which it was created.

Section 10.7. Reports to Shareholders. The Board shall present at each annual meeting of shareholders, and at any special meeting of shareholders when called for by vote of the shareholders, a statement of the business and condition of the Company.

Section 10.8. Contracts and Negotiable Instruments. Except as otherwise provided by law or these Bylaws, any contract or other instrument relative to the business of the Company may be executed and delivered in the name of the Company and on its behalf by the Chairman of the Board, the President, its Chief Operating Officer, the Chief Financial Officer or any Vice President; and the Board may authorize any other officer or agent of the Company to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any contract in the name and on behalf of the Company, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances as the Board may by resolution determine. All bills, notes, checks or other instruments for the payment of money shall be signed or countersigned by such officer, officers, agent or agents and in such manner as are permitted by these Bylaws and/or as, from time to time, may be prescribed by resolution (whether general or special) of the Board. Unless authorized so to do by these Bylaws or by the Board, no officer, agent or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the Company by any contract or engagement, or to pledge its credit, or to render it liable pecuniarily for any purpose or to any amount.

Section 10.9. Fiscal Year. The fiscal year of the Company shall be

fixed by resolution of the Board.

-21-

Section 10.10. Seal. The seal of the Company shall be in such form as shall from time to time be adopted by the Board. The seal may be used by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed, affixed or otherwise reproduced.

Section 10.11. Books and Records. The Company shall keep correct and complete books and records of account and shall keep minutes of the proceedings of its shareholders, Board and committees and shall keep at its registered office or principal place of business, or at the office of its transfer agent or registrar, a record of its shareholders, giving the names and addresses of all shareholders and the number and class of the shares held by each.

Section 10.12. Resignation. Any director, committee member, officer or agent may resign by giving written notice to the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Secretary. The resignation shall take effect at the time specified therein, or immediately if no time is specified. Unless otherwise specified therein, the acceptance of such resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective.

Section 10.13. Surety Bonds. Such officers and agents of the Company (if any) as the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Board may direct, from time to time, shall be bonded for the faithful performance of their duties and for the restoration to the Company, in case of their death, resignation, retirement, disqualification or removal from office, of all books, papers, vouchers, money and other property of whatever kind in their possession or under their control belonging to the Company, in such amounts and by such surety companies as the Chairman of the Board, the President or the Board may determine. The premiums on such bonds shall be paid by the Company and the bonds so furnished shall be in the custody of the Secretary.

Section 10.14. Proxies in Respect of Securities of Other Corporations. The Chairman of the Board, the President, any Vice President or the Secretary may from time to time appoint an attorney or attorneys or an agent or agents for the Company to exercise, in the name and on behalf of the Company, the powers and rights which the Company may have as the holder of stock or other securities in any other corporation to vote or consent in respect of such stock or other securities, and the Chairman of the Board, the President, any Vice President or the Secretary may instruct the person or persons so appointed as to the manner of exercising such powers and rights; and the Chairman of the Board, the President, any Vice President or the Secretary may execute or cause to be executed, in the name and on behalf of the Company and under its corporate seal or otherwise, all such written proxies or other instruments as he may deem necessary or proper in order that the Company may exercise such powers and rights.

Section 10.15. Amendments. These Bylaws may be altered, amended, repealed or replaced by the shareholders, or by the Board when such power is

conferred upon the Board by the Articles of Incorporation, at any annual shareholders meeting or annual or regular meeting of the Board, or at any special meeting of the shareholders or of the Board if notice of such alteration, amendment, repeal or replacement is contained in the notice of such special meeting. If the power to adopt, amend, repeal or replace these Bylaws is conferred upon the Board by the

-22-

Articles of Incorporation, the power of the shareholders to so adopt, amend, repeal or replace these Bylaws shall not be divested or limited thereby.

-23-

DA CONSULTING GROUP, INC. CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements of DA Consulting Group, Inc. on Form S-1 (File No. 333-43989) and on Form S-8 (File No. 333-71987), of our report dated February 19, 1999, on our audits of the consolidated financial statements of DA Consulting Group, Inc. as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and for the years ended December 31, 1998, 1997 and 1996, which report is included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Houston, Texas March 25, 1999 <ARTICLE> 5 <MULTIPLIER> 1,000

<\$>	<c></c>	
<period-type></period-type>	YEAR	
<pre><fiscal-year-end></fiscal-year-end></pre>		DEC-31-1998
<period-start></period-start>		JAN-01-1998
<period-end></period-end>		DEC-31-1998
<cash></cash>		9,971
<securities></securities>		10,033
<receivables></receivables>		16,015
<allowances></allowances>		. 0
<inventory></inventory>		0
<current-assets></current-assets>		39,544
<pp&e></pp&e>		8,759
<depreciation></depreciation>		. 0
<total-assets></total-assets>		48,903
<current-liabilities></current-liabilities>		13,959
<body><bonds></bonds></body>		0
<preferred-mandatory></preferred-mandatory>		0
<preferred></preferred>		0
<common></common>		65
<other-se></other-se>		34,879
<total-liability-and-equity></total-liability-and-equity>		48,903
<sales></sales>		80,132
<total-revenues></total-revenues>		80,132
<cgs></cgs>		40,812
<total-costs></total-costs>		32,230
<other-expenses></other-expenses>		277
<loss-provision></loss-provision>		0
<interest-expense></interest-expense>		(299)
<income-pretax></income-pretax>		7,112
<income-tax></income-tax>		2,813
<income-continuing></income-continuing>		4,299
<discontinued></discontinued>		0
<extraordinary></extraordinary>		0
<changes></changes>		0
<net-income></net-income>		4,299
<eps-primary></eps-primary>		0.72
<eps-diluted></eps-diluted>		0.69

</TABLE>